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It’s all here in
at the right cost. And, most importantly, the community
benefits too, because the business is transparent and
accountable for its sustainability performance.

When an organisation makes dazzling declarations about
its reporting – even claiming to be ‘the first in the world’
at something – how justified are those colourful claims?
Well, we just might have the answer.

For many years we’ve been vocal
about the need to integrate all the
drivers of business performance
within one framework ... So our 2010
annual report, which you are reading
right now, follows the principles of
Broad Based Business Reporting.

At the Institute, we’ve developed a framework of reporting
that is black and white. It goes above and beyond traditional
financial reporting – and beyond sustainability reporting – to
present a complete picture of an organisation’s performance.
It is called Broad Based Business Reporting.
It doesn’t treat sustainability as an add-on; as something that
sits separately from the core activities of a business. Instead,
it integrates social, environmental and governance issues
alongside everything else that matters. It provides a better
explanation of corporate strategy and value drivers; of key
performance indicators and the progress made towards these.

Broad Based Business Reporting is something we firmly
believe in. For many years we’ve been vocal about the need
to integrate all the drivers of business performance within
one framework. We’ve provided practical tools and guidance
so that businesses can introduce Broad Based Business

This is good news for everyone. Investors get the complete
picture about a business in one place without significantly
increasing the burden on the business that reports it.
Businesses gain a competitive advantage because their
superior reporting is a key differentiator for winning capital

© The Institute of Chartered Accountants in Australia
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‘Transparency’ is the new black. ‘Sustainability’ is the new corporate
buzzword. Suddenly everyone claims to be doing it but, when there are
so many grey areas, how can you be really sure?

black and white
Reporting. And we’ve also provided in-depth industry analysis
and case studies from here and overseas.

In recent years, we have published commentary and practical

Wherever we can, we’re spreading the word and encouraging
best practice. This year, we participated in the Prince of
Wales’ Accounting for Sustainability Forum in London,
pressing the case for integrated reporting. And we made
sustainability a leading topic in our marquee Business Forum
events across Australia. This included a passionate discussion
in Sydney featuring Tim Costello (World Vision), Elaine Henry
(The Smith Family), Professor Peter Shergold (Centre for
Social Impact) and Chris Cuffe (Social Ventures Australia
Fund). We want to see a common approach to integrated
reporting that is adopted globally, and this will be our focus
in 2010 – 2011.

and non-financial reports.

Not-for-profit sector reporting

Business Reporting too.

Not-for-profit organisations stake their reputation on a
mandate of trust and accountability. So, just like the corporate
sector, they need to be open and transparent in their
performance reporting.

Our fresh approach is profoundly and positively impacting

That’s why the Institute has taken the Broad Based Business
Reporting model and applied it to the not-for-profit sector too.

Based Business Report, you can be sure you know exactly

© The Institute of Chartered Accountants in Australia

guidance, tailored to this sector, to help preparers of financial
It’s important that we recognise excellence in this field,
and hold it up as an example for others to follow. For this
reason, we remain committed sponsors of the Australian
PwC Transparency Awards, which recognise quality annual
and financial reporting in the charitable sector. The class of
2009 was particularly strong; a real sign that our message is
getting through.
As a member-based organisation, we share many commonalities
with not-for-profits. So our 2010 annual report, which you
are reading right now, follows the principles of Broad Based

organisations, the accounting profession and the wider
community. It provides the benchmark for business reporting
and removes the grey areas. So when you read a Broad
what you’re getting.
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We have a clear vision to
maintain the Institute’s influence
at home, while expanding our
influence overseas.

President’s message
Michael Spinks FCA
2010 President

© The Institute of Chartered Accountants in Australia
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A quality brand for today – and tomorrow
From the banks of the Yarra to the banks of the Yangtze,
Australian Chartered Accountants have been leading the
way this year. In major cities and across the globe, we’ve
been delivering quality services, quality leadership and
quality results.

The strategic significance of this cannot be underestimated.
I think we are seeing the beginnings of a paradigm shift:
from a domestic brand into a global brand. It won’t happen
overnight but I believe it has to happen.
More and more Chartered Accountants see their career and
business opportunities overseas, and we need to be there for
them. And even if you don’t aspire to work overseas, being
part of a brand built on quality – that is recognised globally –
can only be a good thing for all Chartered Accountants and
their career prospects.

Amid all the alarm bells of recession and the murmurs of
recovery, Chartered Accountants provided the voice of
reason. Our employers and clients listened to us because
we’re seasoned business professionals – we’ve seen the
ups and downs before.

Take Asia, for example, where a growing number of major
corporates are building a presence. The Institute has begun
raising the profile of the Chartered Accountants brand
in developed Asian economies, through leadership and
influencing activities. Meanwhile, the developing Asian
economies are crying out for quality intellectual capital; for
quality accountants. The Institute is playing a part in raising
standards via training to equip accountants with new skills
and guidance. And we are collaborating with organisations
who share our values and aspirations in Asia, such as the
New Zealand Institute of Chartered Accountants.

This year our professional body, the Institute, also relied on
the expertise of Chartered Accountants. All of the Board
members have ‘FCA’ beside their names, as do several of
the management team and staff. We have a clear vision to
maintain the Institute’s influence at home, while expanding
our influence overseas.
Domestically, our Institute remains relevant to its members
by providing leadership, advocacy, guidance and resources
for today – and having a big say in what will happen to our
profession tomorrow.
This year our thought leadership work sparked debate about
the most pressing challenges facing Australia in the next
20 years. We also encouraged open and honest debate on
possible strategies, issues and challenges for Australia’s
future accounting education, graduates and academia.

Our continuing presence in Asia is all about influence;
positioning Chartered Accountants as providers of quality
services and advice. This year, we took significant strides in
this direction; but there’s a long way to go. One day, if we
can achieve a global designation, it won’t matter where your
employers or clients are: the Chartered Accountants brand
will be just as relevant on the banks of the Yangtze as it is
on the banks of the Yarra.

And our voice was heard loud and clear by government
during the Henry review of taxation, the Ripoll inquiry into
financial products and services, and the Cooper review
of superannuation; not to mention the Federal Budget.
We also participated in the debate on the pages of every
major newspaper in Australia, and had our say on radio
and television too.

Thank you
It’s been my pleasure this year to work alongside a
talented and dedicated team of professionals. I’ve been
impressed with the calibre of Chartered Accountants
serving on our councils, committees and Board.
Time and again, they have given their energy and
commitment to help further the interests of the
wider profession. We owe them a debt of gratitude.

Having canvassed members and analysed the public interest
implications, our representatives determined the appropriate
policy settings to achieve greater business certainty and
less red tape. Once final policy decisions were made by
government, the Institute provided operational support for
members through events, podcasts, newsletters, guides
and our increasingly popular online training.

I’d also like to extend my thanks to the Institute’s
CEO Graham Meyer. Backed by an exceptional
management team and enthusiastic staff, he’s
directing a cultural transition. Increasingly, the
Institute is led not by rules and regulations – but
by principles. Talented people are being recognised
and innovation is being rewarded.

As our Institute continued to influence policy makers, it was
also reinforcing the reputation of the Chartered Accountants
brand. We have become trusted advisors to the government,
regulators and standards setters because they associate our
brand with quality and leadership. And this year our advocacy
role was further reinforced through the inaugural Chartered
Accountants Leadership in Government Awards.

At the same time, Graham has built a solid financial
foundation. This will allow us to invest in some
significant areas which will provide major benefits
for members in the years to come. For more details,
see overleaf.

However, Chartered Accountants don’t just work domestically
– we work globally too. That’s why the Institute is throwing
so much energy into enhancing the influence and reputation
of the Chartered Accountants brand overseas.

© The Institute of Chartered Accountants in Australia
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Building for the future
Building a workforce

If you imagine the Institute as a single bricks-and-mortar
structure, it would probably have scaffolding around it today.
You would see busy groups of people working outside,
wearing reflective orange safety vests and hard hats.

The ongoing skills shortage is one of the reasons we re-aligned
our marketing personnel this year. We recruited a senior and
experienced sales & marketing manager, who introduced a
new structure to improve engagement with candidates and
members, and strengthen our brand and reputation with key
audiences, such as students and employers.

This year the Institute has been building for the future. We’ve
built up significant financial reserves, we’ve built a stronger
workforce, and we’ve built a firm strategic plan. This gives us a
robust foundation for the significant investments we must make
in our IT systems and our Chartered Accountants Program.

As the only body in Australia to offer a postgraduate
accounting qualification, we also need to ensure we are
influential in the education sector. To this end, we recruited
Professor James Guthrie to the new position of Head of
Academic Relations. He’s already making inroads within
academia and has given us a voice on policy decisions and
issues that affect the Chartered Accountants of tomorrow.

Building quality services
The single biggest investment we are making is in our
computer and IT systems. This will allow us to deliver a
customised and flexible service for Chartered Accountants.
By transforming our old IT infrastructure, we will be able to
react quickly to change and support members in a timely
manner. The improvements will affect just about every
service we provide to members, from our website and
technical guidance, to the annual subscription process
and the way we communicate.

Our influence has also grown in other areas, thanks to
other new appointments. Liz Westover joined us as Head
of Superannuation; Geraldine Magarey now handles the
sustainability agenda, as well as promoting the interests
of members in regional and rural areas; and we worked
alongside leading economist, Saul Eslake, to raise our
profile on the wider economic stage. And all these people
are backed up by one of the best public policy advocates
Canberra has to offer, Grahame Morris.

Building for the next generation
During the economic downturn, Australia’s accounting
skills shortage showed some signs of easing, but it
hasn’t gone away. This is a long-term issue that requires
a long-term solution. Fortunately, our solution has been
under construction for some time already.

These new arrivals were timely. Many challenges await us,
including the debates around international standards and
the legislative changes from government reviews of tax,
education, superannuation and financial planning.

A few years ago, we researched how young people make
decisions about their career choices. Then we began
engaging with students during a number of key stages in
their education, both directly (e. g. through careers events
at schools, colleges and universities) and indirectly
(e.g. through advertising and promotional initiatives).

Building together
I’d like to extend my sincere thanks to our staff for an
immense performance this year. Their efforts helped us get
to a point where we now have no borrowings on our head
office in Sydney. They also helped us build the necessary
cash reserves for next year’s investment. Spending that
money will create a tougher operating environment for us,
but we shall enter that in a strong position.

This strategy is now paying dividends, with more and more
young people joining our ranks (the number of members we
have aged 21 – 30 has increased by more than 1,000 since
30 June 2008).

In closing, I would also like to thank our Board members,
who have backed me all the way this year. Working together
with a shared vision, we have made outstanding progress on
our long-term strategy. This strong foundation means that we
can all be optimistic about the building program ahead.

But our construction work is far from finished. Our last major
overhaul of the Chartered Accountants Program was 10 years
ago, and a lot has changed since then. So we’ve taken a
fresh look, and spoken to members, facilitators, examiners,
employers and candidates. We also examined overseas
programs, to see if we could learn a thing or two there.

Everybody Counts
Following successful pilots with two firms, we are
now contacting small-to-medium practices across
the country inviting them to join Everybody Counts,
an initiative that partners accounting firms and the
Institute with other organisations to give back to the
community. This enables staff to give money, time
and skills to support causes that have mass appeal,
such as Alzheimer’s Australia, National Breast Cancer
Foundation, Redkite, Inspire Foundation, The Smith
Family, Sane Australia and the RSPCA.

Our review told us that the content of what we teach is world
class. It also indicated that enhancements can be made
to the way we teach that content. Young people still value
face-to-face learning, but that approach can be combined
with other delivery methods, such as vodcasts, podcasts,
discussion forums and blogs. We’re also looking at how we
present topics, information and assessments, to see if we
can improve that too.
So in 2012 we will launch a new-look Program. This will require
investing some of the cash reserves we secured in 2009
and 2010.

© The Institute of Chartered Accountants in Australia
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CEO’s message
Graham Meyer
CEO

We’ve built up significant financial
reserves, we’ve built a stronger
workforce, and we’ve built a firm
strategic plan. This gives us a strong
foundation for major improvements
for members.

© The Institute of Chartered Accountants in Australia
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Core purpose: Through its leadership, the Institute enhances and
promotes the reputation and role of Chartered Accountants, both
individually and collectively, and ensures the highest professional
quality of its current and future members, for the benefit of the
business community and the public interest.

Vision

leading the profession

The Institute of Chartered Accountants in Australia will be:
>> A visionary organisation with respected thought leadership and key strategic relationships
>> Setting the benchmark for the highest ethical and educational standards
>> Providing a Chartered Accountants brand which is the passport for lifelong career success
>> Representing and leading members nationally and influencing regionally and globally.

© The Institute of Chartered Accountants in Australia
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Building our strategic plan: When our members talk, we listen.
To develop our 2010 – 2012 strategic plan we had discussions with
committees of Chartered Accountants across Australia. The outcomes
of the sessions were provided to the Board as input to its strategic
planning retreat in October. Following that, a strategic thinking session
took place at each Board meeting during the year, focusing on one of
the six strategic issues in our plan. To review the strategic plan in detail,
visit charteredaccountants.com.au/strategicplan

Direction

strategic plan for 2010 – 2012

Our strategic issues
>> Relevance to members and stakeholders
>> Ensuring the Institute is fit for the future
>> Leadership and competitive positioning of the Institute
>> Growth to ensure a sustainable future for the Institute and Chartered Accountants
>> Global positioning
>> People and culture.

© The Institute of Chartered Accountants in Australia
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What makes us tick? Play it straight. Respect builds success.
Improve and innovate. Deliver to win together. Expect the best.

Values

our principles and stakeholders

Who we work with
Members
Candidates
Employees
Global Accounting Alliance
Business partners
Accounting firms
> Big 4
> Mid-tier firms
> Small and medium practices

Federal and state governments
Business community
Academia
University and school students
Corporates
Regulators
Other professional accounting bodies

© The Institute of Chartered Accountants in Australia
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In this section we get to the heart of the matter. We’ll look at each
of our strategic issues in turn, spelling out our objectives and targets
before explaining whether or not we achieved these.

Measuring up
the year in review

Relevance to members and stakeholders

14

Efficiency to ensure the Institute is fit for the future

18

Leadership and competitive positioning

20

Growth to ensure a sustainable future

24

Global positioning

28

People and culture

30
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Relevance

to members and stakeholders

Objectives
>> A differentiated segmentation strategy which delivers value to members throughout their life cycle
>> Effective and valued interaction with members
>> Ongoing development and revision of products and services to ensure value to members
>> Mutually beneficial partnerships with leading industry bodies and stakeholder groups.

Measurement
Member satisfaction
2010 performance

Membership
distribution by branch

72%

2010 target

ACT

80%

2010
2%

NSW

36%

NT

<1%

Overseas

13%

Qld

12%

Member engagement (score out of 10)

SA

5%

2010 performance

Tas

1%

2010 target – none set

Vic

23%

2009 performance – not measured

WA

8%

2009 performance

69%

0%

50%

100%

Beaton Research & Consulting, May 2010

6.74

0

5

10

Beaton Research & Consulting, November 2009

Membership distribution by
business segment

2010

Practice

38%

Commerce (including government
and academia)

35%

Overseas

13%

Other

14%

Membership by age band

2010

40 and under

51%

41 – 65

43%

Over 65

6%

Membership by gender

2010

Membership attrition

Female

34%

2010 performance 1%

Male

66%

2010 target

1%

2009 performance

1.1%

0%

1%

2%

Comments
The member satisfaction rating is based on research conducted in May each year by Beaton Research & Consulting (an
independent organisation). The 2010 member satisfaction rating has not changed beyond the +/-4% variance that is
statistically significant. In order to improve member satisfaction, the Institute continues to undertake a range of activities, >
as described on pages 15 – 16.
Member engagement is a new measure in 2010 which refers to how connected our members feel towards the Institute. >
It is derived from the Annual Business and Professions Study, conducted in November each year by Beaton Research &
Consulting. Our score of 6.74 saw us ranked fourteenth out of the 18 associations benchmarked. We have major projects
underway to address this, rolling into the next financial year. The median score for member engagement for all organisations
was 6.98 out of 10. For more details on the Beaton research, see page 20.
Member attrition has stayed at around 1% for many years, which means 99% of members are retaining their membership
annually. That’s a positive trend but we are striving to keep every single member satisfied and engaged; supporting >
members throughout their career. So improving member engagement will be a key focus for 2010 – 2011.

© The Institute of Chartered Accountants in Australia
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Relevance: key activities
But we didn’t stop there. We also won plaudits from
members for the following new initiatives:

We interact with members through events, conferences,
the web, print and broadcast media, enewsletters, manuals,
toolkits, guides, Charter magazine and training sessions.
In 2010 we experimented with a variety of new media
activities including blogs, podcasts, Twitter and LinkedIn
aimed at current and potential members. This has helped
us understand what works best for our audiences at a
time when we are planning the relaunch of our website
(see page 19).

>> Partnered with Deloitte to launch the Chartered
Accountants Leadership Academy: giving members
access to global leadership research and training
>> Revamped and relaunched Find a CA: our public database
of accountants’ contact details
>> Piloted a mediation service in Sydney: helping members
resolve professional disputes (we also help members
facing ethical and professional issues across Australia,
through our Chartered Accountants Advisory Groups)

Training and development
During 2010, we delivered some 850 workshops, forums,
debates and other events on technical and professional
issues. We also celebrated the 21st anniversary of our annual
Business Forums, attracting more than 4,200 accounting
and business professionals across all major capital cities.
Attendance figures were up on the previous year, and
feedback from attendees was overwhelmingly positive.

>> Developed two trust funds: One will provide support for
members and others who suffer financial hardship due
to serious difficulties, such as sickness or disability
(we have donated $75,000 to kick start this fund).
The other will be a scholarship fund for people who
are marginalised or disadvantaged (we have donated
$150,000 to this). These will be launched in 2011

Meanwhile, we continue to lead the profession in delivering
audit training across Australia. For example, this year we
expanded our Audit Conferences to Brisbane and Perth,
with encouraging results.

>> Established a Regional Australia Advisory Committee.
This group of Chartered Accountants advises the Institute’s
Board and executive management team, to ensure we
are delivering policies and thought leadership activities
of relevance to regional and rural Australia.

The Institute is committed to providing a comprehensive
range of training for members and a range of ways to access
it. A combination of face-to-face, ‘in house’ and online
delivery methods allow members to choose the delivery
channel that suits them best.

Now we’re in business
Of course, not all Chartered Accountants are alike. We
understand that different members have different needs; not
least our members who work ‘in house’ for a single employer
(commonly described as ‘working in business’). This year we
worked alongside our member advisory panels to develop
tailored guidance for members in business. This included
best practice advice on areas such as year-end planning,
investor relations, developing a travel and expense policy
and the use of relative targets in performance measurement.
We also began a new Business Briefings series, providing
insight for CFOs and their teams. The first two papers dealt
with carbon trading and emerging technology.

In September 2009 our e-learning platform was relaunched
as ‘Live One’ with a search engine marketing campaign.
It continues to be the fastest growing channel for delivering
training to our members; and we have expanded many areas
including tax, accounting, audit, superannuation and professional
development. One of the secrets of our success was, quite
simply, talking to members. In focus sessions they told us
how to improve our service, and then we responded to that.

At your service
We also listened to members when they told us what
tools, checklists and other resources would help them in
their everyday work. We delivered guides for the audit and
administration of self-managed superannuation funds, not
to mention the Chartered Accountants Tool Box and Practice
Structures Guide. A new online tool, SMSF Trustee Education
Program, was also developed in partnership with the other
professional accounting bodies.

© The Institute of Chartered Accountants in Australia

Staying up to date
We provide a comprehensive range of updates and insights
to help Chartered Accountants stay abreast of the latest
issues affecting them in their work. We deliver these via
different channels to meet different needs and tastes:
>> A team of experts produce a series of regular technical
enewsletters on topics such as audit, reporting, tax
and superannuation
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Relevance (continued)

Our focus for 2010 – 2011 includes:

>> Skilled business writers sniff out the latest leadership,
lobbying and technical news for six eBulletin newsletters.
Each one is tailored to the needs of members of different
member groups (including a popular new Regional
Australia eBulletin, which was launched this year)

>> Expand training and development offerings in tax, audit
and assurance, superannuation and financial planning
>> Improve Succession Planning Toolkit for members
in practice

>> Charter, our monthly magazine, now reaches an audited
readership of more than 51,000

>> Build a strategy that delivers an integrated range
of products and services via improved marketing
and communication

>> The Without Fear or Favour podcast series provides an
in-depth discussion of a single issue affecting accountants

>> Research to better understand the needs of members
in different workplaces

>> Our fortnightly news podcast covers the latest accounting
headlines in less time than it takes to drink a cup of coffee!

>> Launch of new website to improve member and
stakeholder experience, with more intuitive navigation,
a powerful search engine and personalisation

This year we have also embraced new ways to connect with
our audiences; including our first foray into social media.
Channels such as Twitter, myspace, blogs, SlideShare and
LinkedIn provide a convenient and easy way for members
to network, share ideas and make their voices heard. Watch
this space in 2010 – 2011 for more exciting developments.

>> Social media strategy to build engagement and support
the Institute’s leadership position
>> Launch the two Chartered Accountants Benevolent
Foundation trust funds.

Partnering with academics
This year we appointed our first ever Head of Academic
Relations, Professor James Guthrie, to spearhead Institute
activities in the academic world. Our relationship with the
university sector is of great significance because this is where
future generations of accounting graduates will come from.
We must help ensure these graduates meet the needs of
the profession and the workplace; and we must lead public
policy debate on issues that affect accounting education.
We are a platinum sponsor of the Accounting and Finance
Association of Australia and New Zealand (AFAANZ).
This provides funds for the annual AFAANZ conference
and supports PhD scholarship awards to give impetus to
successful academic careers. We also held a forum on
‘Australian Accounting Education for the Future: Challenges
and Possible Strategies’, involving senior academics,
professional bodies and other key stakeholders.

© The Institute of Chartered Accountants in Australia
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In the next financial year...
Our new website will put members in
the driving seat. An enormous range
of resources will be presented in a
simple, user-friendly way to suit the
individual interests of each member.
It will be like having your own personal
Chartered Accountants website.
Graham Meyer, CEO
The Institute of Chartered Accountants in Australia

© The Institute of Chartered Accountants in Australia
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Efficiency

to ensure the Institute is fit for the future

Objectives
>> Driving quality in all our activities
>> A sound financial base to enable investment in key strategic issues
>> Appropriate quality-driven infrastructure and processes to underpin organisational sustainability and development
>> A nimble governance structure with relevant committees providing quality input
>> Strategic thinking which identifies and responds to emerging trends and markets.

Measurement
Net profit
2010 performance
2010 target
2009 performance
$0m

Greenhouse gas emissions (CO2e emissions in tonnes)

$6.7m
$5.1m *
$4.8m
$4m

2010 target

1:200

2009 performance

< 2,886
2,886

2008 performance

Ratio of staff: members/candidates
1:202

2,784

2010 target
2009 performance

$8m

2010 performance

2010 performance

0

1

2,784
2

2010 itemised list of emissions (CO2e emissions in tonnes)

1:233

1:0

1:250

Purchased electricity NSW 1,865

Revenue per member and candidate

Purchased electricity Vic

120

2010 performance

$1,450

Purchased electricity Qld

82

2010 target

$1,450 *

Purchased electricity WA

37

Purchased electricity SA

32

Purchased electricity ACT

38

2009 performance

$1,250

$0

$1,500

Cost per member and candidate

Travel – flights

2010 performance

$1,342

Paper consumption

2010 target

$1,367 *

Water supply and
discharge

2009 performance

3

(CO2e = carbon dioxide equivalent)

$1,174

$0
* Based on forecast 2 figures not original budget

567
39
4

Our guiding premises for quantifying
and reporting on carbon emissions were
based on The Greenhouse Gas Protocol:
A Corporate Accounting and Reporting
Standard, published by the World
Resources Institute and World Business
Council for Sustainable Development.
The CO2e calculations for 2008 and >
2009 have been adjusted from those
previously reported to reflect the >
2010 emissions factors published by
the Australian Greenhouse Office (July
2010). This ensures that year-on-year
calculations are comparable.

$1,500

Comments
The Institute achieved a surplus of $6.7 million for the year (in 2009 the surplus was $4.8 million). Revenue increased by >
8.3% while expenses increased by 6.2%. The main drivers behind the increased revenue were strong membership growth >
of 5% and a 13.7% increase in revenue from our Learning & Business Solutions division (which includes training and
development, member products and services, sponsorship and third party partnerships.
The Institute’s sound financial position and resulting surplus has enabled the Institute to embark on much-needed >
IT system investment over the next two years (see page 19). For further details on the financial results, see page 43.
Greenhouse gas emissions were first measured by an external consultancy in 2008. They are now measured annually.
Emissions in 2010 decreased by 4% compared to the previous financial year. The main cause of this was a decrease
in electricity usage in the Sydney head office. This is attributed to the decommissioning of physical computers, and
consolidating them into virtual servers.
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Efficiency: key activities
Transforming our IT systems

But we won’t stop there. The renewal program will also
provide contemporary e-commerce and shopping cart
facilities to increase the efficiency of our sales and delivery
process and reduce barriers to purchase. And our financial
processes that are currently managed in a custom-built
(inflexible) system will be migrated to a fully supported
finance system.

Our IT systems are not just an internal issue that is behind the
scenes. They affect almost everything we do for members,
from delivering events and education to e-commerce and
accounts receivable.
Deloitte reviewed our technology and strongly recommended
that we replace our existing core technology because
the current systems are outdated, highly customised and
difficult to upgrade.

These new systems will be supported by infrastructure
and a data network designed to be highly reliable with
a comprehensive disaster recovery solution.

While replacing this technology requires significant
investment, it will allow us to deliver products and services
in a far more flexible, convenient and relevant way for
members. One of many notable improvements will be the
Institute’s website which contains a wealth of information
and resources for members. Replacing the technology that
sits behind it will allow the Institute to tailor the website to
individual member needs. This will also deliver savings in
the long term, making the Institute more efficient.

Our focus for 2010 – 2011 includes:
>> Take a structured and strategic approach to renewing
our IT systems between June 2010 and November 2011
with a five-year total cost of ownership of $8.5 million
>> Refurbish an additional floor at Sydney head office to
better accommodate staff and either refurbish or relocate
the Adelaide office
>> Install video conferencing capabilities at all our regional
offices, reducing travel costs and greenhouse emissions

We have started this journey by completing a foundation
project which identified, tested and validated systems
to increase our offering to members and candidates.

>> An ongoing focus on cost control and productivity in
what will be a challenging financial year.

The new systems we looked at included content
management (web), learning management, event
management, e-commerce, customer relationship
management and accounts receivable functionality.
The foundation project also delivered designs for a new
website which addressed the needs of our members,
candidates and students.

Renewing our website
After the foundation project, the next step is our ‘renewal
program’. This will include replacing our existing website
with one that puts members, candidates and students in
the driving seat. They will be able to tailor the site to their
personal preferences and easily locate information that is
relevant to them.
The renewal program will also see us introduce a new
system for our Chartered Accountants Program and
Training & Development activities. This will allow candidates
and members to work through learning material at their
own pace. It will also allow us to combine our education
services with third-party e-learning suppliers. Members
and candidates will then be able to effectively manage
their training, attainment and CPD hours online.
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Leadership

and competitive positioning

Objectives
>> A focused leadership strategy which ensures influence nationally, regionally and internationally
>> Effective, visionary and well-publicised thought leadership initiatives which profoundly and positively impact
business and the accounting profession
>> A well recognised and differentiated Chartered Accountants brand
>> Continuing regard for the importance of discipline, ethics and conduct for the profession.

Measurement
Overall performance (score out of 10)
2010 performance
2010 target
2009 performance

Providing leadership (score out of 10)
2010 performance

6.35
7.00
6.52

0
5
Beaton Research & Consulting, November 2009

10

Quality reviews

6.73

2010 target

7.00

2009 performance

6.78

0
5
Beaton Research & Consulting, November 2009

456

Professional conduct investigations 291
Professional conduct tribunals

20

10

Comments
Over the past three years, we have participated in the Annual Business and Professions Survey, conducted in November >
by Beaton Research & Consulting, which measures performance and provides a ranking against other professional bodies. >
The Institute’s overall performance score of 6.35 out of 10 decreased from 2009 and the Institute remained ranked sixteenth
out of the 18 associations benchmarked. The median score for overall performance for all organisations was 6.72 out of 10. >
We will continue to focus on improving our overall performance, as described further in this section.
The Institute’s score of 6.73 out of 10 in providing leadership in the field was higher than the mean score of 6.67, ranking us
ninth out of our benchmarking group of 18 professional bodies. An increased focus on thought leadership and government
relations is intended to build on this score in the years ahead.
Brand positioning
We undertake independent tracking research to measure brand performance. The results are not being disclosed as >
this is commercially sensitive information.
Professional conduct tribunals
This year we began investigating 291 formal complaints (or other conduct issues involving members, such as regulator >
or court action). Our investigations led to 20 members being called to appear before a Professional Conduct Tribunal. >
The number of tribunal cases varies each year because of the timing of individual hearings, but has averaged around >
20 cases annually over the past five years.
The incidence of conduct issues is very small, given the size of our membership and the huge number of engagements >
and tasks undertaken each year by Chartered Accountants on behalf of their clients and employers. Where the tribunal >
finds a case established against a member, a report is published on our website and in Charter, our monthly magazine. >
The member’s name is stated, regardless of the severity of the sanctions imposed.
As well as being a mark of the transparency of the Professional Conduct function, these reports serve as a warning to >
other members about the importance of complying with both the letter and spirit of the Institute’s standards, including >
our Code of Ethics.
We also work closely with other bodies, such as the Financial Reporting Council, the Australian Securities & Investments
Commission and the Companies Auditors and Liquidators Disciplinary Board to regulate and govern the work of Chartered
Accountants. For full details of our professional conduct findings and activities read the 2010 Professional Conduct Annual
Report, available online at charteredaccountants.com.au/professional_conduct/annual_reports
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Leadership: key activities
We grow our brand and profile by participating in Australia
and overseas in a range of events, speeches and discussions
covering a full range of topics that are relevant to members.
We have also developed strong working relationships with
journalists, so that our spokespeople can provide expert
comment and insight on technical issues. This year we
provided innovative ideas in the media discussion on audit
quality; we contributed to the media’s analysis of the Henry
review of tax; and we were a leading voice on accounting
education and quality assurance.

have adopted Broad Based Business Reporting principles
along with national and international initiatives which
encourage further widespread industry adoption.

Leading the way

This year we also worked alongside the Auditing and
Assurance Standards Board and other professional
accounting bodies to deliver member briefings on the
new suite of auditing standards (aka ‘clarity standards’)
in all capital cities as well as offering online sessions for
those who could not attend in person.

Meanwhile, we are leading the global thinking on the
relevance of audit. We continued our ‘benefit of audit’
campaign, by releasing The benefit of audit: a guide to audit
quality. This paper enables audit committee and board
members to assess the quality of the audit service being
provided to them. It has been well-received in the
business community.

Our leadership activities aim to stimulate discussion and
increase influence with stakeholders such as government and
regulators, and position Chartered Accountants as leaders
in the profession and the wider business community. Often,
we achieve this by partnering with key stakeholders in public
practice, the corporate world and academia on joint activities.

Serving the public interest

We produced two economic papers in 2010. The first, Fit
for the future, was produced in collaboration with leading
economist Saul Eslake and discussed key challenges and
issues impacting the future generation of leaders in Australia.
The second paper Reforming international financial regulation
was produced with Access Economics. It analysed and
identified three ways that Australia could respond to the
current international regulatory forums. Both these papers
were shared with policy makers to inform their planning.

As Australia’s leading professional accounting body, we
have a duty to advocate public policy that is not only in the
interests of members and the accounting profession, but
also in the public interest.
We take that responsibility seriously. All year round, we
closely monitor regulatory change that may affect the
accounting profession and, through submissions, we
formally advise regulators and standards setters on topics
relating to tax, superannuation, reporting, audit, insolvency,
executive remuneration and more.

Elsewhere, we continued to have a strong voice on
the business issues relating to sustainability. In March,
we published a thought leadership paper titled 20 issues
on the business implications of a carbon cost. We also
provided guidance for our members on specific sustainability
topics such as the proposed carbon pollution reduction
scheme. These initiatives were helped in no small part by
our newly recruited sustainability manager, Geraldine
Magarey, who will continue to drive our sustainability
thought leadership, advocacy and member guidance
during 2010 – 2011.

When it came to Australia’s Future Tax System Review we
left no stone unturned. We established strong working
relationships with all the key stakeholders including the chair,
Dr Ken Henry, and other panel members, technical advisors
and media outlets.
This was also a momentous year for the financial services
sector (with market volatility and government reviews).
We made sure Chartered Accountants had a seat at the
table during various consultations into the financial services
sector, and frequently provided evidence to parliamentary
committees. In our submissions to the Ripoll inquiry and
the Cooper review of Australia’s superannuation system, we
recommended that a new regulatory regime be developed.
In particular, we argued that there was no need for further
legislation to guarantee the independence of approved
auditors of self-managed superannuation funds.

As we mentioned on pages 4 and 5 of this report
(‘It’s all here in black and white’), we have long advocated
a wide-ranging and integrated approach to business
reporting. Quite simply, it’s imperative to an organisation’s
long-term growth. This year, we built on our previous
work by publishing our Broad Based Business Reporting
supplementary paper, which examines the industries that
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Leadership (continued)

Most of our public policy activities are guided by a common
theme: simplicity. We want to cut Australia’s regulatory red
tape. This year we:

that require significant professional judgment ready for
the financial year 2010 –11.
You can read more about our quality review work at
charteredaccountants.com.au/qualityreview

>> Issued a substantial number of submissions to government
and international standards setters

Spreading the word

>> Promoted the standard business reporting initiative which
aims to streamline business-to-government reporting

Raising the profile of the brand, and positioning Chartered
Accountants as leaders, is further reinforced through
advertising. This year we built on our previous ‘Riddle’
campaign. Through television, print and online media,
we spread the message that the Chartered Accountants
Program is the ‘most challenging, most rewarding’
accounting program. The concept behind the campaign
is to make the Chartered Accountants qualification stand
out in the marketplace. We run Australia’s only postgraduate
accounting qualification, so we really do set the profession’s
benchmark for rigour and quality. Our campaign underlines
that message.

>> Increased member communication and assistance.
We also continued our dialogue with federal government
regarding its proposed anti-money laundering legislation.
As well as shaping the eventual legislation, we want to
support our members with the resources to implement
any of the legislation’s requirements.
As for the independent review of the insolvency profession,
we appeared before the Senate Inquiry into Liquidators and
Administrators to outline a number of measures to help
make certain the insolvency profession is clearly accountable
(including the recommendation that an inspection program
be created for registered liquidators).

The brand campaign advertisement can be viewed here:
charteredaccountants.com.au/about_the_institute

But our dialogue with government didn’t end there. We also
delivered our second annual Risk Management Report on
our liability capping schemes to the Professional Standards
Council. This outlined the risk management strategies
we have in place to check members are meeting high
professional standards. By providing training and guidance
for members, and monitoring their professional indemnity
insurance arrangements, we are helping to reinforce
consumer confidence in Chartered Accountants.

Our focus for 2010 – 2011 includes:
>> Communicate the benefit of audit
>> Address the drivers and sustainability of audit quality
>> Address the implementation of Standard Business
Reporting and implications for the profession
>> Position Chartered Accountants as leaders in the financial
planning industry
>> Play a leading role with government to help develop
sound taxation policy via the tax summit

Quality review
Our Quality Review Program assesses whether members
in practice have the appropriate quality control policies and
procedures in place to ensure that their work complies with
professional standards and regulatory requirements.

>> Contribute to the Cooper review of superannuation and
support members with guidance and analysis.

This year we completed more than 450 quality reviews in
practices up and down the country.

>> Enhance reporting in the public and not-for-profit sectors

>> Continue to be involved in other significant reviews by
government and international standards setters
>> Participate in public policy initiatives to ensure regulatory
burden issues are addressed

We were also pleased to read a Treasury discussion
paper Audit Quality in Australia: A Strategic Review, which
acknowledged that our Quality Review Program performed
‘a valuable role in promoting audit quality and ethical conduct
within the audit profession as an important component of
the co-regulatory framework in Australia’.

>> Explore initiatives to reduce the complexity of
financial statements
>> Implement our accounting education strategy
>> Review the marketing strategy so that our brand remains
competitively positioned to attract new Chartered
Accountants and to support members’ marketing.

Meanwhile, our Quality Control Guide was updated to help
members in practice meet quality control requirements;
and we published guidance tackling the issues for members

© The Institute of Chartered Accountants in Australia

22

2010 Annual Report

In the next financial year...
Our leadership initiatives will
profoundly and positively impact
business, our members and
government. We will show courage
and determination. We will bring
fresh ideas to the table. And we
will challenge and change the
accepted way of doing things.
Lee White FCA, General Manager, Leadership & Quality
The Institute of Chartered Accountants in Australia
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Growth

to ensure a sustainable future

Objectives
>> An evolving Chartered Accountants Program to ensure relevance and pre-eminence
>> Innovative, engaging and influential careers marketing to ensure the attractiveness of a professional career in
Chartered Accounting
>> Ensuring ongoing recruitment, development and retention of members.

Measurement
Candidate satisfaction
2010 performance

Employer satisfaction
2010 performance

59%

2010 target

70%

2009 performance

71%

2010 target
2009 performance

0%
50%
Research by The Leading Edge, December 2009

100%

0%
50%
Research by The Leading Edge, June 2010

Net member growth
2010 performance

5.0%

2010 target

4.8%

2009 performance
0%

85%
87%
83%
100%

Candidates by gender

2010

Male

53%

Female

47%

5.7%
3%

6%

Comments
This year we made alterations to the assessments in the Chartered Accountants Program. This helped us satisfy our mutual
reciprocity requirements with other global Chartered Accountants bodies. A significant change like this was always likely >
to have a short-term impact on overall candidate satisfaction, and sure enough we witnessed a decrease from 71% to 59% >
(in candidate research conducted by The Leading Edge in December 2009). In the next financial year we are determined to
make up this lost ground. Despite the overall reduction, candidates’ satisfaction with the Chartered Accountants Program’s
relevance specifically to their careers continued to rise, peaking at a new high of 82%.
Employer satisfaction has increased from 2009. We believe there is still room for improvement and have made changes >
to provide greater choice and flexibility for employers.
An increase in enrolments in the Chartered Accountants Program over the past few years has led to a pleasing rise in >
net member growth. The number of young members we have (aged 21 – 30) has increased by more than 1,000 since >
30 June 2008.
The Institute’s management measures and reports to the Board on initial and continuing enrolments in the Chartered
Accountants Program and conversion to membership, but this is not disclosed in this report as it is commercially >
sensitive information.
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Growth: key activities
We conduct a variety of marketing activities to promote
careers in Chartered Accounting to school and university
students. We call this ‘careers marketing’.

the Skilled Migration Internship Program – Accounting
(SMIPA) to international accounting graduates across all
states. Since then, 2,321 graduates have commenced
an approved SMIPA program with more than 500, so far,
successfully completing it.

The number of students visiting the charteredaccountants.
com.au/students webpage continued to grow following
the redesign of the student homepage and our enhanced
content. Social media has also become an important tool for
our careers marketing and we are alone among our peers in
establishing social media channels dedicated to students.
Notably, our student Facebook and YouTube accounts are
both growing in popularity.

The three professional accounting bodies are gazetted
by the federal government to assess qualifications for
permanent residence applicants, and the assessment
criteria for migrating accountants was strengthened during
the year to stimulate the supply of quality accountants.

Strategic review of the Chartered
Accountants Program

Many of our careers marketing campaigns put employers
in touch with students and graduates who are seeking
employment. We hold career fairs, cadetship and work
experience programs and employer events.

Our vision is to create a high quality 21st century Chartered
Accountants Program that is rigorous, internationally
recognised, and which effectively engages with candidates
and members.

The results speak for themselves:
>> More than 1,120 students applied for the prestigious
Chartered Accountants Achiever work experience
placements in August 2009 (an increase of 55% on
the previous year)

Following an external assessment of the Chartered
Accountants Program, five strategic objectives were
identified to make certain that we achieve our vision.
This year, we focused on the first of these: reforming the
Program’s governance structure to give greater clarity to the roles
and accountability of Institute staff and member committees.

>> More than 100 students gained valuable hands-on
experience and paid work experience within 74
Institute-accredited firms.

This means that when we develop learning materials, we
will have several things on our side:

Securing quality recruits
We firmly believe that the Chartered Accountants
qualification should be available to all high-achieving
graduates who wish to qualify as accountants, and so we
have continued to promote pathways into the profession
to allow the best non-accounting graduates to qualify for
the Chartered Accountants Program.

>> Respected and authoritative educational leadership

In partnership with Deakin University, a Graduate Certificate
of Chartered Accounting Foundations (GCCAF) course is
offered, which meets all of our academic entry requirements.
Since its introduction in 2007 more than 1,300 students have
enrolled, with 190 graduating students commencing the
Chartered Accountants Program this year. The results from
current GCCAF graduates match those of their accounting
graduate peers.

>> Member Advisory Panels actively managed, representative
and informed of members’ needs

>> An accepted entry level standard
>> Appropriately sized modules (120 –140 hours per module)
>> Module leaders with responsibility to brief authors
and examiners

>> A ‘fit for purpose’ Chartered Accountants Program with
quality outcomes.
The strategic review also recommended changes to delivery
methods and instructional design incorporating use of
multimedia. Following a competitive tender, our Board
approved the appointment of Catalyst Interactive and Synapsys
NZ to provide instructional design services for the Program.

The Institute and the other professional accounting bodies
were commissioned by the federal government to design
a training program to support international graduates in
transitioning to the Australian workforce. Together, we
have approved 17 training providers nationally to deliver
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and to assist candidates during the global economic
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Growth (continued)

Online learning

downturn, we held a 12-month trial where our Program’s
26-week entry requirement (for candidates already in
employment) was suspended.

To provide even more flexibility, we commenced a trial of
web-based delivery in the Management Accounting and
Analysis module. Candidates could choose whether to attend
face-to-face sessions or undertake selected learning activities
via the web. This trial commenced at the very end of this
financial year, and the results will be taken into account
during the strategic review of the Program.

A review in June 2010 indicated fewer than 13% of new
enrollees commenced their studies with less than 26 weeks’
prior experience and there was no significant difference in
the results of candidates. The trial will continue for another
12 months to allow for further analysis.

Our focus for 2010 – 2011 includes:

Before being admitted to membership of the Institute,
candidates still need to:

>> Review the approach to youth marketing in terms of
graduate acquisition, creating desire for the Chartered
Accountants designation and conversion into enrolments

>> Meet the academic entry requirements of the Chartered
Accountants Program

>> Work with instructional design partners to ensure we
have a framework of blended learning approaches for
each module of the Program (‘blended learning’ refers
to a mixture of traditional (e.g. face-to-face) and modern
(e.g. online) methods of learning)

>> Accrue three years of full-time mentored service
>> Achieve all required practical experience competencies.

Building relationships with candidates
To build early affinity with the Institute, we introduced
‘candidate membership’ this year. This provides new benefits
to candidates including:

>> This will allow us to launch a more collaborative
and interactive learning experience in the Chartered
Accountants Program in 2012

>> The ‘Candidate Society’: More than 750 people attended
our six launch events across Australia. The society also
offers networking, soft skill building and other benefits to
candidates enrolled in the Chartered Accountants Program

>> Introduce a New Learning Management System as a
platform for further learning support and reliability of
service to candidates and contributors
>> Leverage the combined strength of the education
programs in Australia and New Zealand through closer
collaboration between the two Chartered Accountants
member bodies.

>> The CA Study Masterclass: This provides additional study
support for candidates who prefer group-based learning,
with expert advice from facilitators and tools such as
checklists and exam-style questions.

Assessment framework review
Changes to assessment were made during the year in
response to an exhaustive external review by the Canadian
Institute of Chartered Accountants. These changes help
reinforce the ongoing rigour and relevance of the Chartered
Accountants Program while further strengthening mutual
recognition of the Program’s high standards among the best
international Chartered Accountants bodies.
As anticipated, changes to this core part of the Program
met with mixed responses from candidates and focus
session leaders. This impacted candidate satisfaction as
outlined above.
Responding to this feedback, further modifications were
made to make sure the assessment framework provided
the appropriate mix of motivation, participation and
standard setting. Synapsys NZ and Catalyst Interactive are
investigating any further adjustments to ensure desired
objectives are met.
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In the next financial year...
The Chartered Accountants Program
is the heart of our brand, so we treat
it with the utmost respect. As we
continue our strategic review of the
Program, we will ensure that quality
and rigour is maintained.
Elaine McFadzean, Deputy CEO
The Institute of Chartered Accountants in Australia
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Global

positioning

Objectives
>> Thinking globally and acting locally
>> Influencing the initiatives of the Global Accounting Alliance
>> Supporting the development of the profession globally
>> Ensuring participation in international forums is relevant and targeted
>> Broadening reach and influence in Asia to support development of the profession.

Measurement
GAA Country
Australian Chartered Accountants in GAA countries
outside Australia

Canada

4,778

England and Wales
Germany
Hong Kong

Australian
Chartered Accountants
174
2,758
35
786

Ireland

48

Japan

60

New Zealand

137

Scotland

38

South Africa

85

United States

657

Comments
Instead of measuring this strategic area quantitatively, the Board makes an annual qualitative appraisal of our progress.
We are dedicated to supporting the profession and increasing benefits to our members in Australia and overseas. For
example, the joint venture with the Malaysian Institute of Certified Public Accountants enables the Institute of Chartered
Accountants in Australia to increase its profile and influence in the region while promoting high standards for education >
and continuous training across national borders.
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Global: key activities
In July 2009 we signed a memorandum of understanding
with the Institute of Chartered Accountants in India enabling
Indian Chartered Accountants to complete the Ethics
and Business Application (EBA) module of the Chartered
Accountants Program and qualify for membership of our
Institute. This has led to over 200 additional enrolments in
the EBA module during the past 12 months.

Our long-term vision is to create a global brand to broaden
the reach and influence of Chartered Accountants. While
this may take years to achieve, we took several steps in this
direction during 2009 – 2010.

Reaching out across the Tasman
To help cement Chartered Accounting as the foremost
professional accounting designation in the Asia – Pacific
region, we have agreed with the New Zealand Institute
of Chartered Accountants to explore collaboration.

Global Accounting Alliance
As a founding member of the Global Accounting Alliance
(GAA), we are working closely with other pre-eminent
international professional accounting bodies to shape the
profession globally. This year the Institute of Public Auditors
in Germany signed up to the GAA, taking membership up
to 11 bodies representing more than 800,000 professional
accountants in more than 165 countries around the world.

This is particularly timely, given the recent announcement
that the Australian and New Zealand governments are
moving towards a ‘single economic market’. At the same
time, accounting standards boards in the two countries are
moving towards convergence of accounting standards.

Our growing influence in Asia

The GAA promotes quality in the accounting profession
– something that is very close to our hearts. We share
ideas and collaborate on international issues facing our
industry. This year strategic planning has focused on ways
to expand the influence of the GAA, which increases value
and recognition for each body and its members. The GAA
board is currently developing a five-year strategic plan, to be
presented at its Annual General Meeting in November 2010.

Since early 2009, we have pursued a strategic objective
to increase our reach and influence in Asia. This year we
concentrated on capacity building, leadership positioning
and brand awareness, and education and training.
Capacity building
We have shared our expertise in economic governance,
particularly audit quality, through presentations in
Thailand and Vietnam and training (with the support of
the government’s overseas aid program, AusAID) for the
Indonesian capital markets regulator, Bapepam LK. Our work
is designed to improve the integrity of regional capital markets
thereby supporting economic growth and consequently
improving living standards. It also assists in protecting the
superannuation savings of many Australians as investment
managers increase their exposure to growth markets in Asia.

As part of an ongoing research project to improve the
quality of financial reporting internationally, the GAA issued
a report examining key themes such as the ‘principles versus
rules’ debate and the growing complexity of company
financial statements.
Thirteen per cent of the Institute’s members live overseas
(spanning 109 countries, from Albania to Zimbabwe), and
many of them can take advantage of the growing benefits
that GAA membership offers. The GAA passport for member
services enables most of our 4,778 members (residing in
an overseas GAA jurisdiction) to gain access to many of
the member services of the local institute.

Leadership positioning and brand awareness
We have been involved in a number of speaking engagements
at high profile seminars in Malaysia, China, Indonesia and
Singapore. In addition, the Institute’s thought leadership
paper The benefit of audit: a guide to audit quality has been
jointly published in Malaysia, Singapore and Hong Kong
with the local professional accounting bodies.

Our focus for 2010 – 2011
>> In Asia, expand capacity building activities in economic
governance and offer training programs for accountants
in financial reporting, risk management and audit

Education and training
Our Chartered Accountants Program has been offered in
Singapore and Malaysia (in association with The Malaysian
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (MICPA)). The joint
venture in Malaysia enables Malaysian university graduates
to complete the same program in Malaysia as offered in
Australia with the exception of the taxation module which
is based on Malaysian rather than Australian tax. Students
who successfully complete the program are eligible for
membership of both MICPA and our own Institute.

© The Institute of Chartered Accountants in Australia

>> Build on leadership and brand building activities in Asia
through thought leadership activities and continued
participation in high-level seminars and forums
>> Participate in and influence outcomes of the GAA
strategic planning process
>> Close collaboration with the New Zealand Institute of
Chartered Accountants in a number of areas.
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People

and culture

Objectives
>> A culture which is proactive, responsive and innovative, with strong leadership
>> Best practice in recruitment, retention and rewards
>> Rigorous succession planning, with high achievers identified and mentored for staff and committees
>> Key people recognised as experts in their fields.

Measurement
Employee satisfaction

Regretted employee turnover

2010 performance

2010 performance

76%

2010 target
2009 performance

27.5%

2010 target

80%
81%

0%
50%
Human Synergistics, 2010
Macquarie University, 2009

2009 performance
100%

0%

Employees by age and role

< 20%
13%
15%

30%

Employees by gender and role

20 – 30

31 – 40

41 – 50

50+

Male

Female

Administration

47

34

14

14

Administration

17

92

Specialists

45

57

29

17

Specialists

43

105

Managers

6

19

30

20

Managers

26

49

98

110

73

51

Total

86

246

Total

Comments
We employ independent agencies to conduct a biennial culture staff survey (Human Synergistics conducted a culture survey
in February 2010) and a biennial staff satisfaction survey (The Voice Project team at Macquarie University conducted this
in the previous financial year). Both surveys give us an indication of the level of employee satisfaction at the Institute. They
suggest that employee satisfaction increased in the three years leading up to 2010, but this year we experienced a dip.
Meanwhile, as the economy recovered from its downturn, we saw an increase in ‘regretted employee turnover’. In response
to these results, we are placing a strong focus on further developing our culture and nurturing talented staff.
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People: key activities
Our focus for 2010 – 2011 includes:

This year we continued to focus on developing a workplace
environment in which people want to work; a place they
would recommend to their friends. We aim to achieve a
highly constructive culture which supports the delivery
of strategic objectives and aligns with the PRIDE values
(see page 12).

>> Continue to build a constructive culture
>> Roll out senior management team leadership program
>> Implement remuneration review recommendations
>> Focus on talent management.

A 2010 survey revealed that the majority of staff clearly
understand our vision and objectives. While 76% of staff
indicated they are satisfied with working at the Institute, 85%
say they positively like working here, and 69% intend to remain
beyond two years. The results indicated that while some
positive changes to aspects of the culture have been made,
such as greater cooperation between business units, there are
still challenges to address including job insecurity, perceptions
of quality and encouraging a more constructive culture.
The survey results have helped inform organisational
development activities for the coming year.
In March our senior management launched a new program
to work towards a more constructive culture. This includes
a structured approach to coaching, workshops and testing,
which provides measurable improvements in leadership style,
organisation culture and operational outcomes. This program
will continue next year.
We have also made improvements to our talent management
activities through initiatives such as helping staff to map
their careers. And we helped staff adapt to any change they
faced through activities such as workshops, consultation
and coaching. These methods were also used as part of
our ongoing focus on quality and customer service, both
internally and externally.
To be certain that our current pay practices remain
competitive, we reviewed our remuneration strategy this
year. While we found the current strategy does meet our
needs, a number of recommendations came out of the
review. These are being implemented progressively, to
support innovation and quality among our staff, while helping
us attract and retain staff who are leaders in their field.
We have a well-established series of employment policies
supporting equal employment opportunities, workplace
flexibility, paid parental leave that exceeds legal obligations,
and effective occupational health & safety policies and
practices. A significant proportion of staff work part time or
utilise other flexible workplace arrangements. In 2010 staff
participated in a number of internal and external training
programs, with an average spend per staff member of $1,300.
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People (continued)

Organisational chart

Graham Meyer

Elaine McFadzean

Anne McCotter

BA LLB

LLB DipLegPrac

Learning & Business Solutions

CEO

Deputy CEO

Graham Meyer joined the Institute
in January 2006 with more than
25 years of commercial acumen
gained principally in legal practice
and the financial services sector.
He has a history of involvement
with professional bodies and
has worked in legal, banking
and financial services, where he
had experience in lobbying and
working with government.

Elaine joined the Institute
in March 2002 with 10
years’ general management
experience across a range of
sectors, including construction
and commercial property; and
eight years’ experience as a
commercial lawyer in the UK
and Australia.

Each year the Board formally
reviews the performance of the
CEO, and measures achievements
against a number of agreed key
result areas.

The Deputy CEO’s performance
is reviewed by the CEO after
consultation with the Board.
Performance reviews assess
both what has been achieved
and how it has been achieved.

Tina Fisher
Sales & Marketing

Pat Reddy FCA
Corporate Services

Sheena Frenkel
Chartered Accountants
Program & Admissions

Renee Le Grande
General Manager ACT

Gary Arcus
General Manager WA

Simon Grant FCA
General Manager Qld

Duncan Pittard
General Manager Vic/Tas

Mark Jones
General Manager SA/NT

Adelle Evans FCA
General Manager NSW

Bill Palmer FCA
Asia Region

Lee White FCA
Leadership & Quality

Helen Black
Corporate Communications

Marie Maky
Human Resources

Barbara Bell
Strategy & Business
Excellence

Wendy Zammit
Board Secretariat
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While not having the same level of structural complexity as listed companies,
we still lead by example in corporate governance. Our administration is
based on rigorous systems of control and accountability.

Corporate
governance

Our Board

34

Board and committee meetings

36

Corporate governance statement

37

Committees and councils

41

© The Institute of Chartered Accountants in Australia

33

2010 Annual Report

Corporate governance

Our Board

Michael Spinks FCA

Peter Green FCA

Fiona Bennett FCA

Andrea Waters FCA

Craig Farrow FCA

Neil Wilson FCA

© The Institute of Chartered Accountants in Australia

Rachel Grimes FCA

Mel Ashton FCA

Michael Watson FCA

Tim Gullifer FCA
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President

Deputy President

Michael Spinks FCA
BCom (Acc) GDipAppFin F Fin

Rachel Grimes FCA BBus (Acc)

Michael is a principal at Collins SBA,
specialising in business structures,
superannuation, wealth management and
financial planning. He has more than
15 years’ experience in financial services,
previously being a director of the financial
planning group Garrisons. He has also
served with the Royal Australian Navy,
receiving an Active Service Medal for
deployment in the Persian Gulf.
Michael was appointed a director in
2006 and is currently a member of the
Nominations Committee, Joint Accounting
Bodies, Executive Review Committee and
Chartered Accountants Program Review
Subcommittee (chair). His portfolio is the
Regional Australia Advisory Committee.

Fiona Bennett FCA
BA (Hons) FAICD FAIM MIIA
Fiona is a business consultant and a
director of a number of boards, including
Boom Logistics Limited, Alfred Health,
V/Line Passenger Corporation and the
Legal Services Board (Victoria). She
has more than 30 years’ experience in
commercial and financial management,
governance, risk management and audit.
She has held senior executive positions
at BHP Billiton Limited and Coles Group
Limited, and was previously chief
financial officer for several health
sector organisations.
Fiona was appointed a director in
2007 and is chair of the Audit &
Risk Committee.

Peter Green FCA PhD FACS
Peter is a professor at the University of
Queensland (UQ) Business School. He
has spent 18 years as an academic in the
School of Accountancy at the Queensland
University of Technology, the UQ
Department of Commerce and now the
UQ Business School. Prior to becoming
an academic, he worked as the systems
support manager for a major electricity
board and as a management consultant.
Peter was chair of the Queensland
Regional Council in 2006. He was
appointed a director in January 2009.
His portfolio is the Education Board
and he is also a member of the
Chartered Accountants Program
Review Subcommittee.

Rachel is a director in the Mergers and
Acquisition Team at Westpac. She has
21 years’ experience across the financial
services sector, working in commerce
with Westpac/BT Financial Group for
12 years as well as in the Big 4 with
Price Waterhouse.
Rachel was state chair of the NSW
regional council in 2004, and was
appointed a director in 2006. She
is a member of the Audit & Risk
Committee, the Nominations Committee,
the Executive Review Committee and
the ICT Steering Committee.

Mel Ashton FCA BCom FAICD

Michael Watson FCA

Mel is a business consultant and
managing director of Mentoring Services
for Business. He is chair or board member
of a number of ASX-listed companies and
large private companies. He also acts as a
consultant to KPMG in Western Australia.

Michael jointly heads the audit and
assurance area in the Australian National
Audit Office. With more than 40 years’
experience specialising in public
sector auditing, he has direct audit
responsibilities for government business
entities and major public sector entities.

Mel was a member of the Western
Australia Regional Council from 2001 to
2009, served as vice chair in 2005 and was
elected chair in 2006. He was appointed
a director in January 2009. His portfolio is
the Corporate Advisory Committee.

Craig Farrow FCA
BEc DipFP CPMgr SA Fin FAICD
Craig is managing partner of Brentnalls
SA, Chartered Accountants and former
National Chairman of the Brentnalls
National Affiliation of Accounting Firms.
His focus is on business advisory and
board services particularly in agribusiness
and professional organisations.
Previously chair of the Institute’s National
Public Practice Committee, Craig is now
a member of the ICT Steering Committee,
the Chartered Accountants Program
Review Subcommittee and the Executive
Review Committee. He also chairs
the Governance Committee and was
appointed a director in 2008.

Andrea Waters FCA BCom
Andrea is a partner at KPMG Melbourne,
with more than 25 years’ experience
in financial services audits. She has
been involved as a director of two
not-for-profit organisations.
Andrea is a member of the Governance
Committee. She was appointed a director
in January 2009 and her portfolio is the
Audit Advisory Committee.
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Michael was an ACT regional councillor
for six years and chair for part of 2007. He
was appointed a director in 2008 and is a
member of the Audit & Risk Committee.

Tim Gullifer FCA
Grad Dip Bus Studies-Accounting
Tim is a partner and national growth
leader for Deloitte Private, a specialist
division within Deloitte Touche Tohmastu
that focuses on private companies,
families, individuals and communities.
He has spent 33 years providing tax and
business advisory services to high-wealth
families and private businesses on issues
such as growth strategies, succession
planning, wealth management, tax
restructures and exit strategies.
Tim was appointed a director in January
2010 and his portfolio is the Public
Practice Advisory Committee.

Neil Wilson FCA
Neil is a partner and Chief Operating
Officer at PricewaterhouseCoopers in
Sydney and a member of the firm’s
Leadership Executive. He has been in
that role for two years. Prior to this he
was a tax partner for 19 years, specialising
in financial services and insurance.
Neil is a member of the Governance
Committee and was appointed a director
in January 2010.
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Our Board (continued)

Our Board 2009

(Retired from the Board during this financial year)

Immediate Past President
Richard Deutsch FCA BEc
Richard is a partner of PricewaterhouseCoopers Australia and is the firm’s national assurance leader.
An APRA-approved auditor, he has more than 15 years’ experience specialising in insurance and
investment management.
Richard was appointed a director in 2004 and is currently chair of the Nominations Committee.
He was Deputy President in 2008 and then President in 2009.

Corporate governance

Board and committee
meetings
Director attendance for 1 July 2009 to 30 June 2010

Board
Meetings
Mel Ashton

Nominations Committee
Meetings

Governance Committee
Meetings

Attended

Held

7

9

Andrew Arkell

2

2

3

3

Attended

Held

Attended

Held

Craig Farrow

3

3

Peter Green

1

1

Fiona Bennett

7

9

Richard Deutsch

Richard Deutsch

5

5

Rachel Grimes

1

1

Andrea Waters

3

3

Craig Farrow

8

9

Michael Spinks

3

3

Neil Wilson

2

2

Peter Green

8

9

Rachel Grimes

9

9

Timothy Gullifer

4

4

Michael Spinks

9

9

Andrea Waters

8

9

Michael Watson

9

9

Neil Wilson

4

4
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Audit & Risk Committee
Meetings

Executive Review Committee
Meetings

Attended

Held

Mel Ashton

1

2

Fiona Bennett

6

Rachel Grimes
Michael Watson
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Attended

Held

Richard Deutsch

1

1

6

Craig Farrow

1

1

5

6

Rachel Grimes

2

2

6

6

Michael Spinks

2

2
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Corporate governance

Corporate governance
statement
advising the Board on strategic direction, ensuring business
activities are in alignment with the Institute’s strategic plan,
ensuring the organisation conducts its affairs within the
law, and keeping the Board informed of all major business
proposals and developments through regular reports.
The CEO attends Board and Board committee meetings;
however, he is not a director and is not entitled to vote.
Senior executives including the CEO and the Board Secretary
have formal job descriptions.

The Institute is a leading advocate of high standards of
corporate governance. It is committed to best practice
through its representation on the Australian Stock Exchange
Corporate Governance Council and its efforts to adhere to the
highest standards in regulating its own affairs and complying
with relevant Commonwealth and state legislation.
The Institute occupies a unique position as a reporting entity.
As a member-based organisation, it does not have the same
level of structural complexity as listed companies. However,
in line with its vision to lead the profession, the Institute has
adopted rigorous systems of control and accountability as
the basis of the administration of corporate governance.

Board composition
The Board structure includes both member-elected and
Board-elected directors. This balance ensures the Board
comprises directors with appropriate skills, experience and
attributes for the organisation and its business. The directors’
skills and expertise relevant to their positions and their terms
of office are described on page 35.

These systems are clearly outlined in the Institute’s
supplemental Royal Charter, by-laws, governance
manual and code of conduct, which are available at
charteredaccountants.com.au/about_the_institute/
governance

The Board comprises seven members elected by Chartered
Accountants on regional registers. Up to four additional
members can be Board-appointed. Directors serve a
maximum of two terms of three years each. Each year the
Board elects a president and deputy president.

The Institute is constituted by Royal Charter. It does not
have securities (shares etc) and so does not report on share
trading policies.

Board of directors

The Board assesses annually the independence of each
director. Directors must disclose to the Institute any matter
which may affect their independence as soon as they
become aware of it.

The Institute’s Board comprises entirely non-executive
directors. Non-executive directors or past presidents
chair all four committees of the Board.
The Board and its committees operate in accordance with
charters, which are reviewed annually to ensure alignment
with the Institute’s strategic objectives.

All Board members are requested to disclose related party
transactions on an annual basis and a summary of related
party transactions for each director is disclosed in this annual
report (see Notes to the Financial Statements on page 71).

The Board meets at least seven times a year for scheduled
meetings, and has the facility to meet without the CEO if
required. The Board is committed to holding at least two
of these meetings interstate, with the balance held at the
Institute’s head office in Sydney. A register of disclosures for
each director is tabled at every Board meeting. The Board
and management have established a three-year strategic
plan and corporate strategy which is reviewed and updated
annually. Each year a detailed organisational business plan is
established to set the priorities, direction and performance
targets for the organisation.

The chair of the Board is an independent director (usually
the president) and is not the CEO.
Directors are selected on the basis of their skills, experience
and other relevant capabilities with due regard to the mix of
skills recommended by the Board and to proper succession
planning. All directors must comply with the Board’s code
of conduct and accompanying guidelines. This code covers
issues such as the requirement to act in good faith, duties of
due care and diligence, conflict of interest, issues of improper
use of power and information, independence, confidentiality
and the obligation to uphold the law. Board meeting
attendance is shown on page 36.

Day-to-day management of the organisation’s affairs and
implementation of corporate strategy and policy initiatives
are the responsibility of the CEO and management.

Board induction, education and access
to information

Chief executive officer
The CEO is appointed by the Board. He is responsible for the
management of the Institute in accordance with approved
strategy, policies, his performance contract and delegated
authority framework. The CEO’s responsibilities include
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and responsibilities and attend a formal induction meeting
prior to commencing on the Board.
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Corporate governance statement (continued)

Senior executives supply the Board with information to
enable it to make decisions on an informed basis, and
regularly attend Board meetings. All directors have access
to the Board Secretary who is appointed by the Board.
The Board Secretary is accountable to the Board, through
the president, on governance matters.

>> Managing risk
>> Monitoring organisational performance
>> Monitoring the financial position.

Governance Committee
The Governance Committee assists the Board with the
oversight of matters relating to the Royal Charter and by-laws
and general corporate governance. The review of existing
policy initiatives and the development of new policy initiatives
and related issues, plus ethical guidelines and professional
conduct for the Board and Board committees, are also the
responsibility of this committee.

Board committees
There are four committees of the Board: Audit and Risk,
Governance, Nominations, and Executive Review (for
attendance of meetings see page 36). Membership of these
committees comprises directors, the CEO and past presidents.
There are a further five advisory committees – Corporate, Public
Practice, Audit Advisory, Regional Australia, and the Education
Board – along with seven regional councils and five overseas
member groups. These committees report to the Board
and meet regularly throughout the year (see page 36). Each
committee has a charter (see charteredaccountants.com.au/
about_the_institute/governance/charters). The charters are
reviewed regularly to ensure that the role and responsibilities
of each committee are consistent with the Institute’s strategic
and operational objectives. The Institute has a number of
committees and taskforces advising management on specific
issues with around 500 members involved in the governance
of the Institute through Board and management councils,
committees and taskforces.

Nominations Committee
The Institute has a separate Nominations Committee.
It assists the Board in identifying potential candidates for
appointment and removal as members of committees and
other appointments. While the Nominations Committee
is not able to formally make appointments to the Board,
it can identify skills gaps and work with the Board to address
these gaps.

Audit & Risk Committee
The Audit & Risk Committee comprises three Board
members. In accordance with its charter, the committee
assists the Board in discharging its responsibility for financial
reports, application of accounting policies, internal control
systems and the operation of enterprise risk management
processes. All members of the Audit & Risk Committee have
financial qualifications.

Adding value through Board structure and
ethical and responsible decision making
The Board and its committees provide visionary leadership to
the organisation and its global operations to ensure that the
Institute sets and achieves strategic objectives and operates
effectively and efficiently. Under the Institute’s by-laws, the
Board is given power over:

Executive Review Committee
The Executive Review Committee comprises the President,
Deputy President and Governance Committee Chair.
In accordance with its charter, the committee assists in
discharging its responsibility for oversight from the Board’s
perspective of matters relating to remuneration costs,
policy and strategies for the Institute’s employees.

>> Maintaining and controlling the Institute’s affairs
>> The appointment, removal and remuneration of the CEO
>> The promotion of improvements in laws affecting the
accounting profession
>> The promulgation of regulations, including regulations
that prescribe rulings

Indemnification and insurance for directors
and officers

>> Providing guidance on standards of practice and
professional conduct, including technical standards.

The Institute’s by-laws provide for an indemnity to
each person who is or has been a director, councillor or
committee member or officer against any liability which
results from any act or deed done in the discharge of the
individual’s duties.

The Board governs the Institute by:
>> Setting strategic direction
>> Approving and monitoring delivery of the strategic plan

The Institute’s insurance policy serves to indemnify the
directors, councillors, committee members and officers
against liabilities for costs and expenses incurred by them

>> Liaising with stakeholders
>> Ensuring compliance with statutory obligations

© The Institute of Chartered Accountants in Australia
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in defending legal proceedings arising out of the performance
of their normal duties for the Institute.

The Institute has not complied with ASX Corporate
Governance Principle recommendation 7.3 as the CEO
and CFO are not required under section 295A of the
Corporations Act to provide a declaration.

External auditors
Ernst & Young is the Institute’s external auditor. The external
auditor’s performance is reviewed annually.

Members and staff are required to meet high standards of
honesty and integrity, as outlined in the Institute’s code of
conduct. New employees are provided with a comprehensive
information kit and induction program which outline
standards of behaviour expected of all employees. All staff
also participate in the Institute’s two-day cultural program,
PRIDE, and staff performance reviews; the development
process includes behavioural expectations in alignment
with PRIDE values (see page 12).

An analysis of fees paid to the external auditors, including
a breakdown of any non-audit fees, is provided in Note 16
of the financial report. It is the policy of the external auditors
to provide an annual declaration of independence to the
Audit and Risk Committee (see page 40). All proposed nonaudit work by the external auditor is required to be approved
by the Audit and Risk Committee prior to being undertaken.

Communication

The Audit and Risk Committee undertakes a full review of the
audit engagement before deciding to reappoint the existing
audit firm or seek tenders on the open market. The Institute
is not subject to mandatory rotation of audit partners.

The Board presents to members a report, signed by the
president and deputy president, that the financial statements
of the Institute for the full financial year give a true and fair
view of the organisation’s financial position and operational
results, and comply with accounting standards in Australia.
The Institute has not complied with Principle 5 of the ASX
Corporate Governance Principles relating to continuous
disclosure as it is not an entity listed on the Australian
Securities Exchange.

Internal auditors
BDO has been engaged as the Institute’s internal auditors
since July 2008. The internal auditors provide a report on
a quarterly basis to the Audit and Risk Committee.

Non-audit services

Monitoring performance

The non-audit services provided by the auditor, Sean Van
Gorp, or his firm, Ernst & Young, are set out in Note 16,
Auditors’ Remuneration. The directors are satisfied that the
provision of non-audit services is compatible with the general
standard of independence for auditors imposed by the
Corporations Act 2001. The nature and scope of each type of
non-audit service provided means that auditor independence
was not compromised.

Board performance
The Board must annually review its performance and that of
each director. The Nominations Committee recommends to the
Board the skills and competencies required on the Board and
assesses the extent to which those skills are represented on
the Board. At the Board’s request, the Nominations Committee
facilitates the evaluation of the Board and the performance of
individual directors. An evaluation was performed in line with
this process in mid-2009 and a further external evaluation
will be undertaken in 2010, prior to the appointment of new
directors. The results are provided to the Governance and
Nominations Committees for review and consideration with
a recommendation being provided to the Board.

Risk management
The Institute’s Executive Business Risk Management
Committee is charged with identifying, assessing, monitoring
and managing risk and compliance across the organisation.
The Institute’s approach to risk management is an integral
part of the management processes and culture and
underpins the success of business activities.

Management performance
All management including the senior executives of the Institute
are subject to annual performance planning and reviews. The
performance of each executive is assessed by the CEO and
Deputy CEO, who are their immediate supervisors. Executives
are assessed against achievement of their job specifications
and goals, contribution towards specific business and
strategic objectives, and adherence to the Institute’s values.
A performance evaluation of senior executives took place
during the year in accordance with this process.

The Executive Business Risk Management Committee
implements the framework to identify, assess, monitor
and manage risk and compliance across the organisation.
The committee is made up of the CEO, Deputy CEO and
executive management team. The Executive Business Risk
Management Committee reports to the Audit and
Risk Committee on a quarterly basis.
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Corporate governance statement (continued)

Fair and responsible remuneration

employment of staff and staff remuneration. The committee
considers the remuneration of the chief executive officer and
senior management, agrees the remuneration strategy and
structure, and approves the annual remuneration budget.
Under the terms of the Institute’s annual board evaluation,
attainment of demanding performance targets can result in a
performance bonus being approved by the Board and paid to
staff. The Executive Review Committee approves the amount
of bonus pool available under the annual performance
contract. The salary range for the five highest paid executives
is $252,300 to $548,800. (this includes base, superannuation
and bonuses).

Directors
The by-laws of the Institute state that the Board may
approve recommendations to remunerate the president,
deputy president and the non-executive directors based
on percentages of the Auditor-General’s salary. These
recommendations are then put forward to the members
for approval.
Directors are considered to be independent insofar as
membership does not imply or constitute a relationship
that would lead to material interference with their ability
to act objectively and in the best interests of the Institute.

The Board has the responsibility to approve the terms of the
CEO’s appointment. The CEO has personal performance
indicators and is eligible for a bonus payment subject to
the approval of the Board after its evaluation of the CEO’s
performance. This evaluation involves an assessment of a
range of factors including the overall performance of the
Institute and the achievement of predetermined goals.

Directors whose firms undertake work for the Institute
do not participate in negotiations or discussions around
such work at Institute Board meetings, and abstain from
any decisions that relate to their organisation. No director
or their organisation is a material supplier to the Institute,
although their organisations may be customers in certain
circumstances. In forming this view, the Board has presumed
a relationship is immaterial when it generates less than 5%
of group revenue, and presumed material when it generates
more than 10% of group revenue during a 12-month period
in the absence of evidence or convincing argument to the
contrary. In considering such evidence or argument, the
Board takes into account the strategic value and other
material but non-quantitative aspect of the relationship
in question.

Auditor independence
The directors received a declaration from the auditor of the
Institute, as printed below.

Declaration of independence by the
Institute’s auditor

Sean Van Gorp FCA
C/- Level 49, 680 George Street
Sydney NSW 2000

No director of the Institute has, since the end of the previous
financial year, received or become entitled to receive a
benefit (other than a benefit included in the total amount of
emoluments disclosed in Note 21, director and executive
disclosures, in the Notes to the Financial Statements) by
reason of a contract made by the Institute with a director or
with a firm of which the director is a member, or with any
entity in which the director has a substantial financial interest
except as set out in Note 20, related parties, in the Notes to
the Financial Statements.

Auditor’s independence declaration to the directors of
the Institute of Chartered Accountants in Australia
In relation to my audit of the financial report of the Institute
of Chartered Accountants in Australia for the year ended
30 June 2010, to the best of my knowledge and
belief, there has been no contravention of the auditor
independence requirements of any applicable code of
professional conduct.

Institute directors may seek external professional advice at
the expense of the Institute on matters relating to their role
as directors of Institute. However, they must first request
approval from the president or deputy president; this must
not unreasonably be withheld. If permission is withheld,
the matter may be referred to the whole Board.

Sean Van Gorp FCA
Auditor
Sydney
Dated, 23 August 2010

Management
The Board has an Executive Remuneration Review
Committee that monitors the terms and conditions of
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Committees and councils
Joint Accounting Bodies
Committee

Education Board

Audit Advisory Committee

Professor Stewart Leech FCA (chair)

Tony Whitfield FCA (chair)

Institute members:

Professor Chris Evans CA

Julian Bishop CA

Michael Spinks FCA (joint chair)

Professor Allen Craswell CA

Robert Forbes FCA

Rachel Grimes FCA

Professor Anne Lillis CA

Barry Jameson FCA

Richard Deutsch FCA (joint chair 2009)

Professor David Emanuel FCA (NZICA)

Dr Nonna Martinov-Bennie FCA

There are also three committee
members from the other professional
accounting bodies.

Jenny Parker FCA

Tiernan O’Rourke CA

Frank Newman FCA

Dennis Robertson FCA

Garry Whitelock FCA

Graeme Rodda FCA

Wendy Patterson FCA

Kristen Wydell CA

Professor Peter Green FCA
(Board representative)

Rod Smith FCA (retired)

Professor Anne Wyatt CA (retired)

Regional Australia Advisory
Committee

Audit & Risk Committee
Fiona Bennett FCA (chair)
Michael Watson FCA
Rachel Grimes FCA (chair 2009)
Mel Ashton FCA (retired)

Governance Committee
Craig Farrow FCA (chair)
Andrea Waters FCA
Neil Wilson FCA
Peter Green FCA (retired)

Executive Review Committee
Michael Spinks FCA (chair)
Rachel Grimes FCA
Craig Farrow FCA
Richard Deutsch FCA (chair 2009)

Nominations Committee
Richard Deutsch FCA (chair)

Les Jones CA (retired)
Jeffrey Bye CA (retired)

Bill Sheehan FCA (chair)

Corporate Advisory Committee

Jonathan Forrest CA

Paul Urquhart FCA (chair)

Ben Jordan CA

Peter Bourke FCA

Cliff Anderson FCA

Mary Boydell FCA

Michael Cottier FCA
Yvonne Sneddon FCA
Jo-Ann Long FCA
Nigel Underwood FCA
Charles McNeill CA
Gene Phair CA
Peter King FCA (chair 2009, retired)
Matt Harrington FCA (retired)
Thomas Gribble FCA (retired)

Michael Spinks FCA

Public Practice Advisory
Committee

Rachel Grimes FCA

Arthur Kirk FCA (chair)

Andrew Arkell (retired chair)

Dianne Azoor Hughes FCA
Peter Beames FCA
Michael Burnett FCA
Peter Hansen FCA
Brad Hellen FCA
Alan Lockwood FCA
Robert Mayberry FCA
Natalie Miller CA
James Orchard FCA
Tim Gullifer FCA
(Board representative)
Darryl Jess (chair 2009, retired)
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Committees and councils (continued)

Regional Councils
New South Wales Council 2010
Bruce Gleeson FCA (chair)
Ian Rodrigues FCA (vice chair)
Andrew Archer FCA
Peter King FCA
Georgina Gaussen FCA
John Robinson FCA
Richard Stewart FCA
Jonathan Tyler FCA
Jane Stanton FCA
Jason Phillips FCA (chair 2009, retired)

Australian Capital Territory
Council 2010
Adrian King CA (chair)
Josephine Stevens FCA (vice chair)
Steven McDonnell FCA
Jodi George CA
Stephen Holmes CA
Eddie Senatore FCA
David Robjent FCA
Kerry Jacobs FCA
Andrew Sykes CA
Lisa Stone FCA (chair 2009, retired)
Kelly Fenner FCA (retired)
Chris Ikin FCA (retired)
Greg Field FCA (retired)

South Australia /Northern
Territory Council 2010
Todd Roberts FCA (chair)
Darren Ball FCA (vice chair)
Lisa Powell FCA
Matthew Kennon (NT) CA
Thea Eszenyi FCA
Mark Coleman FCA
Andrew Daniels FCA
Mark Phelps FCA
Stephen Noble FCA
Ben Miels FCA (chair 2009, retired)
Lynda Townsend CA (retired)
Nigel Stevenson FCA (retired)
Garry Whitelock FCA (retired)
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Tasmania Council 2010

Overseas Member Group Chairs

Yvonne Rundle FCA (chair)
Rod Whitehead CA (vice chair)
Ben Coull FCA
Tracy Matthews FCA
Sarah Merridew FCA
Brett Spinks FCA
Mike Blake FCA (retired)

Hong Kong – Mason Wu CA
Malaysia – Peter Lim FCA
Singapore – Jonathan Chi FCA
United Kingdom – Peter Wilson FCA

Victoria Council 2010
Gary Dickson FCA (chair)
Bill Edge FCA (vice chair)
Annette Kimmitt FCA (chair 2009)
Penny Hutchinson FCA (chair 2008)
Mark Davies FCA
Timothy Holden FCA
Professor Jayne Godfrey FCA
Matthew Pringle FCA
Darryl Jess FCA
Professor Philomena Leung CA (retired)
Martin Sammut FCA (retired)

Western Australia Council 2010
Nick Henry FCA (chair)
Andrea Hall FCA (vice chair)
Peter Hansen FCA
Jo-Ann Long FCA
Marie-Louise Martin CA
John Palermo CA
Glennda Scully FCA
GiGi Visscher CA
David Gilchrist FCA
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The Institute of Chartered Accountants in Australia

Financial commentary
For the year ended 30 June 2010

Principal activities

Funds were channelled into a number of activities affecting
expenditure as follows:

This year, the principal activities of the Institute were
providing education and training to members, potential
members and the broader business community, and
providing member services. There were no significant
changes in the nature of activities of the Institute during
the year.

>> Service expenses increased by 11.3%, primarily as a
result of additional expenses in delivering the Chartered
Accountants Program, and Learning and Business
Solutions delivery costs

Financial results and review of operations

>> Administration expenses decreased by 2.3%, primarily due
to one-off expenditure in the previous year on the website
design concept

The Institute achieved a surplus of $6.7 million for the year
(2009: $4.8 million). Revenue rose by 8.3% to $86.1 million,
while expenditure increased by 6.2%.

>> IT expenses increased by 16.8%, primarily due to costs
associated with two stages of a major IT overhaul (known
as the ‘IT foundation project’ and the ‘IT renewal program’)

Revenue and expenditure

>> Other expenses increased by 22.2%, primarily due to
consulting fees associated with the strategic review
of the Chartered Accountants Program, appointment
of advocates in government and academic relations,
increased costs associated with additional Thought
Leadership papers and additional marketing expenditure.

The major movements in revenue were as follows:
>> Growth in membership revenue was primarily due to a
net increase in member numbers of 5% combined with
an increase in subscription rates of 2.9%, which produced
$2.6 million of increased revenue from membership fees
and related activities

Capital expenditure

>> There was growth in the Chartered Accountants Program
revenue of $2.2 million. The program received higher
overall enrolments and module fees increased by 4%

Capital expenditure overall remained static in comparison
to the prior year. The major expenditure was software and
hardware for the IT renewal program and other IT-related
costs, namely replacement servers in Sydney and Melbourne
and hardware costs in setting up a disaster recovery site.

>> Learning and Business Solutions revenue increased by
13.7% due to the increase in revenue generated from
Live One Training, customised in-house training solutions
and increased attendance figures at Business Forum and
other conferences

Cash flow and liquidity
At balance date, the Institute had cash of $26.8 million of
which $26.1 million is due to the receipt of membership
subscriptions in May and June. The increase in the cash
position at balance date reflects the increase in revenue
from the Chartered Accountants Program and membership
subscriptions. The Institute did not utilise its overdraft facility
during the year and borrowings are not expected to be
required in the upcoming financial year.

>> Other revenue decreased by 2.3%, primarily from
decreased Charter magazine advertising revenue and
decreased sponsorship revenue
>> Interest revenue increased due to increased cash
balances during the year combined with an increase
in deposit rates.

The build-up of cash reserves will allow the Institute to fund
the investment in the Institute’s IT systems over the coming
years. The IT renewal program commenced in June 2010
with anticipated completion in November 2011 and a five-year
total cost of ownership of $8.5 million.
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Five-year summary
2010
$’000

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

2007
$’000

2006
$’000

83,835

77,709

73,985

68,070

59,508

2,277

1,835

1,612

1,519

2,371

Total revenue

86,112

79,544

75,597

69,589

61,879

Total expenses

79,392

74,723

73,773

67,600

61,429

6,720

4,821

1,824

1,989

450

Current assets

32,117

19,885

10,217

18,205

21,187

Non-current assets

59,945

59,528

61,185

54,848

36,785

(42,414)

(39,989)

(37,573)

(33,591)

(28,861)

Non-current liabilities

(1,255)

(943)

(661)

(10,822)

(2,460)

Total net assets

48,393

38,481

33,168

28,640

26,651

6,388

3,196

2,704

–

7,367

Retained earnings

42,005

35,285

30,464

28,640

19,284

Total members’ funds

48,393

38,481

33,168

28,640

26,651

Revenue from operating activities
Revenue from non-operating activities

Surplus from ordinary activities

Current liabilities

Reserves
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The Institute of Chartered Accountants in Australia

Statement of comprehensive income
For the year ended 30 June 2010

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

83,835

77,709

2,277

1,835

86,112

79,544

(18,882)

(16,964)

(5,068)

(5,075)

(34,261)

(35,082)

(7,071)

(6,053)

Other expenses

(14,110)

(11,549)

Total expenses from ordinary activities

(79,392)

(74,723)

6,720

4,821

Fair value revaluation of freehold property

3,192

492

Total other comprehensive income

3,192

492

Total comprehensive income for the year

9,912

5,313

Total surplus for the year is attributable to members of the Institute

6,720

4,821

Total comprehensive income for the year is attributable to members of the Institute

9,912

5,313

Notes

Revenue from operating activities
Revenue from non-operating activities
Total revenue from ordinary activities

4

Service expenses
Occupancy expenses
Administration expenses
Information technology expenses

Surplus from ordinary activities

Other comprehensive income

The above Statement of comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

© The Institute of Chartered Accountants in Australia

46

2010 Annual Report

The Institute of Chartered Accountants in Australia

Statement of financial position
As at 30 June 2010

Notes

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

Cash and cash equivalents

6

26,754

15,146

Trade and other receivables

7

5,363

4,739

32,117

19,885

Current assets

Total current assets

Non-current assets
Receivables

7

–

350

Property, plant and equipment

8

59,360

58,877

Intangible assets

9

585

301

Total non-current assets

59,945

59,528

Total assets

92,062

79,413

Current liabilities
Receipts in advance

10

35,548

33,296

Trade and other payables

11

4,896

4,887

Provisions

12

1,970

1,806

42,414

39,989

Total current liabilities

Non-current liabilities
Trade and other payables

11

597

429

Provisions

12

658

514

1,255

943

Total liabilities

43,669

40,932

Net assets

48,393

38,481

Total non-current liabilities

Members’ funds
Reserves

13

6,388

3,196

Retained earnings

13

42,005

35,285

48,393

38,481

Total members’ funds
The above Statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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The Institute of Chartered Accountants in Australia

Statement of changes in equity
For the year ended 30 June 2010

Reserves
$’000

Retained
earnings
$’000

Total
$’000

3,196

35,285

38,481

–

6,720

6,720

Other comprehensive income

3,192

–

3,192

Total comprehensive income

3,192

6,720

9,912

At 30 June 2010

6,388

42,005

48,393

Reserves
$’000

Retained
earnings
$’000

Total
$’000

2,704

30,464

33,168

–

4,821

4,821

Other comprehensive income

492

–

492

Total comprehensive income

492

4,821

5,313

3,196

35,285

38,481

At 1 July 2009
Profit for the year

At 1 July 2008
Profit for the year

At 30 June 2009
The above Statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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The Institute of Chartered Accountants in Australia

Statement of cash flows
For the year ended 30 June 2010

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

Receipts from members’ subscriptions

44,590

46,170

Receipts from Institute activities

48,351

46,101

(79,559)

(80,283)

(1,294)

(344)

Notes

Cash flows from operating activities

Payments to suppliers and employees
Net payments for GST
Net cash flows from operating activities

6

12,088

11,644

11

16

Payment for property, plant and equipment

(616)

(949)

Payments for intangibles

(530)

(242)

655

224

(480)

(951)

Cash flows from investing activities
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment

Interest received
Net cash flows from/(used in) investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from borrowings

–

5,409

Repayment of borrowings

–

(5,409)

Interest paid

–

(22)

Net cash flows from/(used in) financing activities

–

(22)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

11,608

10,671

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year

15,146

4,475

26,754

15,146

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year

6

The above Statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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The Institute of Chartered Accountants in Australia

Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 30 June 2010

1. Corporate information

from the first part of Phase 1 of the project to replace
AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement. AASB 9 will become mandatory for the
Institute’s 30 June 2014 financial statements. The Institute
has not yet determined the potential effect of the standard.

The Institute of Chartered Accountants in Australia (the
Institute) is a body corporate that is governed by its
Supplemental Royal Charter and is incorporated and
domiciled in Australia. The liability of its members is limited.

AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures (revised December
2009) simplifies and clarifies the intended meaning of the
definition of a related party and provides a partial exemption
from the disclosure requirements for government-related
entities. The amendments, which will become mandatory
for the Institute’s 30 June 2012 financial statements, are not
expected to have any impact on the financial statements.

The registered office of the Institute is:
33 Erskine Street
Sydney NSW 2000
The principal activities of the Institute during the year were:
>> The delivery of pre- and post-admission education
and services
>> The setting and maintaining of high standards as they
apply to members to enhance their standing with the
public and the business community

AASB 2009-5 Further amendments to Australian Accounting
Standards arising from the Annual Improvements Process
affects various AASBs resulting in minor changes for
presentation, disclosure, recognition and measurement
purposes. The amendments, which will become mandatory
for the Institute’s 30 June 2011 financial statements,
are not expected to have a significant impact on the
financial statements.

>> The continuing development of government relations
and advocacy programs in pursuit of legislative and
regulatory objectives
>> The continuing development of a program to enhance
the market and personal value of the Chartered
Accountant designation.

(c) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents in the Statement of Financial
Position, which comprise cash at bank and in hand and
short-term deposits, are stated at their nominal amount.

2. Summary of significant accounting policies
(a) Basis of preparation
This general purpose financial report has been prepared in
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards, other
authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting
Standards Board, and Urgent Issues Group Consensus Views.

For the purposes of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and
cash equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents as
defined above and include deposits at call which are readily
convertible to cash in hand and subject to an insignificant
risk of changes in value, net of outstanding bank overdrafts.

This financial report has been prepared on the basis of
historical cost, except for freehold property that has been
measured at fair value (refer Note 2(e)).

(d) Trade and other receivables

The financial report is presented in Australian dollars and all
values are rounded to the nearest thousand dollars ($’000)
unless otherwise stated.

Trade receivables are recognised and carried at original
invoice amount less an allowance for impairment.
Collectability of trade receivables is reviewed on an ongoing
basis. An impairment provision is recognised when there
is objective evidence that the Institute will not be able to
collect the receivable. Individual debts that are known to
be uncollectible are written off when identified.

(b) Statement of compliance
The financial report complies with Australian
Accounting Standards.

Adoption of new accounting standards

(e) Property, plant and equipment

Certain Australian Accounting Standards and AASB
interpretations have recently been issued or amended but are
not yet effective and have not been adopted by the Institute
for the annual reporting period ended 30 June 2010. The
interpretations as relevant to the Institute are set out below.

Freehold property is measured at fair value less accumulated
depreciation on buildings and building plant less any
impairment losses recognised after the date of revaluation.
All plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less
accumulated depreciation or amortisation and any
accumulated impairment losses.

AASB 9 Financial Instruments includes requirements for the
classification and measurement of financial assets resulting
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Depreciation of property, plant and equipment, other than
land, is calculated on a straight-line basis at rates that take
account of the remaining useful life of the relevant assets
and their estimated residual values.

increment for the same asset, in which case the decrement
is debited directly to the property revaluation reserve to the
extent of the credit balance existing in the revaluation reserve
for that asset.

The cost of fixtures and fittings on leasehold premises is
amortised over their estimated useful lives or the remainder
of the lease period, dependent on whichever period is shorter.

(iii) Derecognition and disposal
An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no further future economic benefits
are expected from its use or disposal.

Major depreciation periods are:

Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset
(calculated as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included
in the Statement of Comprehensive Income in the year the
asset is derecognised.

Freehold property:
Building

50 years

Building plant

25 years

Furniture

10 years

Office equipment

5 years

(f) Intangibles

Computer equipment

3 years

Intangible assets acquired are initially measured at cost.
Following initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at
cost less any accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
impairment losses.

Fixtures and fittings on freehold premises
Fixtures and fittings on leasehold premises
Motor vehicles

10 years
Lease term
3 years

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either
finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are
amortised over the useful life and assessed for impairment
whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may
be impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation
method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are
reviewed at least at each financial year-end. Changes in the
expected useful life or the expected pattern of consumption
of future economic benefits embodied in the asset are
accounted for by changing the amortisation period or
method, as appropriate, which is a change in accounting
estimate. The amortisation expense on intangible assets
with finite lives is recognised in profit or loss in the expense
category consistent with the function of the intangible asset.

The assets’ residual values, useful lives and amortisation
methods are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each
financial year-end.

(i) Impairment
The carrying values of plant and equipment are reviewed for
impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate
the carrying value may not be recoverable. Impairment
losses are recognised as expenditure in the Statement of
Comprehensive Income. Freehold property is measured
at revalued amounts, and therefore impairment losses on
freehold property are treated as a revaluation decrement.

(ii) Revaluations

Intangibles are amortised as follows:

Following initial recognition at cost, freehold property is
carried at a revalued amount that is the fair value at the
date of revaluation less any subsequent accumulated
depreciation on buildings and any subsequent accumulated
impairment losses.

Computer software

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible
asset are measured as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, and are
recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.

Any revaluation increment is credited to the property
revaluation reserve included in the members’ funds section
of the Statement of Financial Position, except to the extent
that it reverses a revaluation decrement for the same asset
previously recognised in profit or loss, in which case the
increase is recognised in profit or loss.

(g) Receipts in advance
Receipts in advance are carried at original invoice amount in
respect of goods and services to be provided subsequent to
balance date. Receipts in advance includes membership fees,
Chartered Accountants Program enrolment fees, and Training
& Development course fees.

Any revaluation decrement is recognised in profit or loss,
except to the extent that it offsets a previous revaluation
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The Institute of Chartered Accountants in Australia

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 30 June 2010

(h) Trade and other payables

(ii) Other revenue-generating activities

Trade and other payables are carried at amortised cost. They
represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the
Institute prior to the end of the financial year that are unpaid
and arise when the Institute becomes obliged to make future
payments in respect of the purchase of these goods and
services. Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are
normally settled on a 30-day term.

The Institute undertakes certain activities that are accounted
for on a work-in-progress basis including Chartered
Accountants Program modules, Training & Development
courses, Quality Reviews, Charter Journals, Congresses, and
student activities. The Institute’s policy of accrual accounting
with respect to the recognition of revenue and expenses on
such activities is as follows:

(i) Employee leave benefits
(i) Wages, salaries and annual leave

>> For activities which are completed on or before balance
date, any surplus or deficit is incorporated into the
year’s results

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary
benefits, and annual leave expected to be settled within
12 months of the reporting date, are recognised in other
payables in respect of employees’ services up to the
reporting date. They are measured at the amounts expected
to be paid when the liabilities are settled.

>> For activities which take place wholly after the end of the
financial year, any revenue received and expense incurred
on such activities prior to balance date is deferred and
carried forward in the Statement of Financial Position
within receipts in advance and prepayments respectively
>> For activities that span the balance date, a proportion of
the final projected net surplus is recognised in the financial
year on the percentage-of-completion basis.

(ii) Long service leave
The liability for long service leave is recognised in the
provision for employee benefits and measured as the present
value of expected future payments to be made in respect
of services provided by employees up to the reporting date
using the projected unit credit method. Consideration is
given to expected future wage and salary levels, experience
of employee departures, and periods of service. Expected
future payments are discounted using market yields at the
reporting date on national government bonds with terms to
maturity and currencies that match, as closely as possible,
the estimated future cash outflows.

Revenue in regard to certain activities is deferred in cases
where it is anticipated that refunds will be made in regard to
discontinuation by attendees. The deferred amount is carried
forward in the Statement of Financial Position within receipts
in advance.
For activities that span the balance date, the methods
adopted to determine the percentage of completion basis
are as follows:
>> For Chartered Accountants Program modules, the
percentage of completion is apportioned according to
the time span between the commencement of the
module and the completion of the examination

(j) Revenue and expense recognition
Revenue and expenses are recognised to the extent that it is
probable that their respective economic benefits will flow to
or be lost or consumed by the Institute and the revenue and
expenses can be reliably measured. The following specific
recognition criteria must also be met before revenue or
expenses are recognised.

>> For other courses and activities that are delivered in
a series of events, the percentage of completion is
apportioned according to the number of events delivered
at balance date compared to the total number of events
in the series.

(i) Member fees

(iii) Sale of goods

The Institute’s membership subscription year is 1 July to
30 June. Fees are payable annually in advance. Only those
member fee receipts that are attributable to the current
financial year are recognised as revenue.

The Institute recognises revenue from the sale of goods
when physical control of the goods passes to the purchaser
pursuant to an enforceable sales contract and the costs
incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can
be measured reliably. Risks and rewards of ownership are
considered passed to the buyer at the time of delivery of
the goods to the customer.

Fee receipts relating to periods beyond the current financial
year are shown, excluding any applicable taxes, in the
Statement of Financial Position as receipts in advance
under the heading of current liabilities.
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(iv) Member benefits revenue

The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is
reviewed at each balance date and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred income tax asset
to be utilised.

The Institute receives revenue in the form of trailing or
upfront commissions on member generated activity through
its member benefit program offers. Income is accounted for
on an accrual basis.

Unrecognised deferred income tax assets are reassessed at
each balance date and are recognised to the extent that it
has become probable that future taxable profit will allow the
deferred tax asset to be recovered.

(v) Interest income and expense
Interest income on bank bills and deposits is recognised on
an accrual basis (using the effective interest method, which
is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash
receipts through the expected life of the investment) where
the Institute attains control of a right to receive consideration
for an investment.

Deferred income tax assets are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply to the year when the asset is realised,
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted at balance date.

Interest expense on borrowings is recognised on an
accrual basis.

Where assets are revalued, no provision for potential capital
gains tax has been made because of the long-term nature
of the asset and the existence of accumulated tax losses.

(vi) Member groups
The Institute grants funds to certain intrastate and overseas
member groups. These funds are paid to support and
supplement membership activities controlled by members in
those locations and are expensed by the Institute at the time
of the payment to the groups.

(ii) Goods and services tax (GST)
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the
amount of GST except:
>> Where the GST incurred on a purchase of goods or
services is not recoverable from the taxation authority,
in which case the GST is recognised as part of the cost
of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense item
as applicable

(k) Income tax and other taxes
(i) Income tax
The Institute prepares its income tax returns by reference to
the application of the principle of mutuality to the revenue
and expenses of the Institute. The principle of mutuality
is a common law principle arising from the premise that
individuals cannot profit from themselves. Accordingly,
receipts from members are deemed to be mutual income
and not subject to income tax, and expenses in connection
with mutual activities are therefore not deductible for taxation
purposes. All other receipts and payments are classified in
accordance with taxation legislation.

>> Receivables and payables, which are stated with the
amount of GST included.
The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to,
the taxation authority is included as part of receivables or
payables in the Statement of Financial Position.
In respect of all receipts in advance that are subject to GST,
a liability for GST payable is raised except for receipts in
advance that have a settlement date in respect of the GST
liability that occurs prior to balance date at which stage the
liability will have already been settled.

The Institute is liable for other taxes including fringe
benefits tax.
Deferred income tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, carry forward of unused tax assets
and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences and the carry forward of unused tax
credits and unused tax losses can be utilised. The exception is
when the deferred income tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor the taxable profit or loss.

© The Institute of Chartered Accountants in Australia

Cash flows are included in the Statement of Cash Flows on
a gross basis, and the GST component of cash flows arising
from investing and financing activities, which is recoverable
from, or payable to, the taxation authority, is classified as part
of operating cash flows.
Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of
the amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the
taxation authority.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 30 June 2010

(l) Operating leases

estimate of its recoverable amount, but only to the extent
that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years.

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense in
the Statement of Comprehensive Income on a straight-line
basis over the lease term. Lease incentives are recognised in
the Statement of Comprehensive Income as an integral part
of the total lease expense.

An impairment loss and/or reversal is recognised in the
Statement of Comprehensive Income immediately.

(m) Government grants

(q) Significant accounting judgments, estimates
and assumptions

Government grants are recognised at fair value where there
is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and
all attaching conditions will be complied with.

In applying the Institute’s accounting policies, management
continually evaluates judgments, estimates and assumptions
based on experience and other factors, including expectations
of future events that may have an impact on the Institute.

When the grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised
as income over the periods necessary to match the
grant on a systematic basis to the costs that it is intended
to compensate.

All judgments, estimates and assumptions made are
believed to be reasonable based on the most current set
of circumstances available to management. Actual results
may differ under different conditions from the judgments,
estimates and assumptions. Significant judgments, estimates
and assumptions made by management in the preparation of
these financial statements are outlined below.

(n) Provisions
Provisions are recognised when there is a present obligation
(legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is
probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

(i) Significant accounting judgments
Non-recovery of deferred tax assets

If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions
are discounted using a current pre-tax rate that reflects
the risks specific to the liability. When discounting is used,
the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is
recognised as a borrowing cost.

Deferred tax assets are not recognised for deductible
temporary differences as management considers that it is not
probable that future taxable profits will be available to utilise
those temporary differences.

Impairment of non-financial assets
The Institute assesses impairment of all assets at each
reporting date by evaluating conditions specific to the Institute
and to the particular asset that may lead to impairment. These
include the asset’s use and performance, future expectations,
economic and political environments, and the assessment of
the asset’s carrying value. If an impairment trigger exists, the
recoverable amount of the asset is determined. This involves
value-in-use calculations, which incorporate a number of key
estimates and assumptions.

(o) Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs are recognised as an expense when incurred.

(p) Impairment of assets other than goodwill
The carrying values of the Institute’s assets are reviewed for
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable.
For an asset that does not generate largely independent
cash inflow, the recoverable amount is determined for the
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

(ii) Significant accounting estimates and assumptions
Long service leave provision

If any such indication exists and where the carrying
values exceed the estimated recoverable amount, the
assets or cash-generating units are written down to their
recoverable amount.

As disclosed in Note 2(i)(ii), the liability for long service
leave is recognised and measured at the present value of
the estimated future cash flows to be made in respect of
all employees at balance date. In determining the present
value of the liability, attrition rates, pay increases through
promotion, and inflation have been taken into account.

The recoverable amount of the asset is the greater of fair
value less costs to sell and value in use.
Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised
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Allowance for impairment loss on trade receivables
Where receivables are outstanding beyond the normal
trading terms, the likelihood of the recovery of these
receivables is assessed by management on an individual
account basis. The impairment loss is outlined in Note 7.

Market risk

Estimation of useful lives of assets
The estimation of the useful lives of assets has been based
on historical experience as well as future expectations on
use, lease terms (for leased equipment), and turnover policies
(for motor vehicles). In addition, the condition of the assets
is assessed at least annually and considered against their
remaining useful life. Adjustments to useful lives are made
when considered necessary. Depreciation and/or amortisation
charges are included in Note 8.

Interest rate risk refers to the risk that movements in variable
interest rates will affect financial performance by increasing
interest expenses or reducing interest income.

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows
of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes
in market prices. The main component of market risk to the
Institute is interest rate risk.

Interest rate risk arises from financial assets and liabilities that
are subject to floating interest rates. The Institute’s exposure
to market interest rates relates primarily to:
>> Cash and cash equivalents
>> Bank overdraft
>> Borrowings.

3. Financial risk management objectives
and policies

Currently the Institute has an approved seasonal overdraft
facility with a financial institution with a limit of $14,000,000.
The interest rate is based on the 30-day bank bill swap rate
plus a margin.

The Institute’s principal financial instruments are comprised
of cash, receivables and bank loans.
The Institute manages its exposure to key financial risks in
accordance with the Institute’s financial risk management
policy. The objective of the policy is to support the delivery
of the Institute’s financial targets while protecting future
financial security.

The Institute collects subscription income at the beginning
of the financial year. The Institute did not utilise the overdraft
during the current year and it is anticipated that the overdraft
facility will not be utilised in the 2010–2011 financial year.
The Institute will be seeking to reduce the overdraft facility
limit at the next scheduled review date in late 2010. In order
to minimise interest costs and consistent with previous
years during the period that the Institute has surplus
cash, the Institute has chosen not to fix any component
of its borrowings.

The main risks arising from the Institute’s financial
instruments are:
>> Interest rate risk
>> Credit risk
>> Liquidity risk.

All of the Institute’s revenues are denominated in its
functional currency, namely expressed in Australian dollars.

The Institute uses different methods to measure and manage
the risks to which it is exposed. These include:

>> Ageing analysis and monitoring of specific credit
balances to manage credit risk

In addition, the Institute has an insignificant exposure to
foreign currency purchases. These are mainly comprised
of overseas travel and accommodation charges that are
generally settled through credit card transactions at the
time of incurrence, contributions to IFAC, contributions
to overseas member groups, and software licensing.

>> Liquidity risk monitoring through the development of
future rolling cash flow forecasts.

Consequently, the Institute is not exposed to any significant
fluctuations in foreign currencies.

>> Monitoring levels of exposure to interest rates
>> Monitoring assessments of market forecasts for
interest rates

The Board reviews and agrees on policies for managing each
of these risks. The policies are summarised below.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 30 June 2010

3. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)
Principal
subject to
floating
interest rate

Principal
subject
to fixed
interest rate

Noninterest
bearing

Total

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

5,212

21,542

–

Trade receivables

–

–

Other receivables

–

Average interest rate
Floating

Fixed

26,754

3.00%

3.80%

2,598

2,598

–

–

–

1,663

1,663

4.59%

–

5,212

21,542

4,261

31,015

Trade and other payables

–

–

(5,493)

(5,493)

–

–

Total financial liabilities

–

–

(5,493)

(5,493)

6,646

8,500

–

15,146

2.62%

4.43%

Trade receivables

–

–

2,210

2,210

–

–

Other receivables

350

–

1,163

1,513

5.11%

–

6,996

8,500

3,373

18,869

Trade and other payables

–

–

(5,316)

(5,316)

–

–

Total financial liabilities

–

–

(5,316)

(5,316)

2010
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents

Total financial assets

Financial liabilities

2009
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents

Total financial assets

Financial liabilities

Sensitivity analysis
The following sensitivity is based on interest rate risk exposures in existence at balance date.
A sensitivity of 50 basis points shift has been selected as this is considered reasonable given the current level of
short-term Australian dollar interest rates.
At 30 June 2010, if interest rates had moved, as illustrated in the table below, with all other variables held constant,
post-tax surplus and members’ funds would have been affected as follows:
Post-tax surplus
increase/(decrease)

Members’ funds
increase/(decrease)

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

If there was 50 basis points higher in interest rates with all other
variables held constant

134

76

134

76

If there was 50 basis points lower in interest rates with all other
variables held constant

(134)

(76)

(134)

(76)
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Credit risk
Credit risk refers to the loss that the Institute would incur if a debtor or other counterparty defaults under its
contractual obligations.
Credit risk would arise from the financial assets of the Institute, which comprise trade and other receivables.
The Institute’s exposure to credit risk is limited as there is a significant amount of low value individual debtors
located in multiple geographical areas. Receivable balances are monitored on a regular basis with the result
that the Institute’s exposure to bad debts is not significant.
Management believes that the Institute does not have a concentration of credit risk. The Institute’s maximum
exposure to credit risk is equal to the carrying value of the receivables held.

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk includes the risk that, as a result of the Institute’s operational liquidity requirements:
>> The Institute will not have sufficient funds to settle a transaction on the due date
>> The Institute will be forced to sell financial assets at a value which is less than what they are worth
>> The Institute may be unable to settle or recover a financial asset at all.
To help reduce these risks, the Institute has:
>> A liquidity policy which targets a minimum and average level of cash and cash equivalents to be maintained
>> Readily accessible standby facilities and other funding arrangements in place.
The Institute receives a substantial part of its cash inflows at the beginning of the financial year and manages
its expenditure within these cash inflows and approved funding arrangements.
The following table details the Institute’s remaining contractual maturity for its financial liabilities. The table has been
prepared based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the
Institute can be required to pay.
Less than
6 months

6 to 12
months

1 to 5
years

Total

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

(4,896)

–

(597)

(5,493)

(4,896)

–

(597)

(5,493)

(4,887)

–

(429)

(5,316)

(4,887)

–

(429)

(5,316)

2010
Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables

2009
Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 30 June 2010

4. Revenue and expenses
2010
$’000

2009
$’000

Subscriptions and related revenue

40,369

37,748

Revenue from education and other services

43,466

39,961

83,835

77,709

1,092

1,117

Royalties

565

494

Interest from other persons

655

224

Net (loss) on disposal of property, plant and equipment

(35)

(a) Revenue
Revenue from operating activities:

Total revenue from operating activities

Revenue from non-operating activities:
Rent

Total revenue from non-operating activities

–

2,277

1,835

86,112

79,544

Freehold property

815

783

Furniture and equipment

593

750

Computer equipment

865

777

Fixtures and fittings on freehold premises

717

604

Fixtures and fittings on leasehold premises

287

307

2

6

3,279

3,227

86

94

Depreciation and amortisation of non-current assets

3,365

3,321

Operating lease expense on premises

1,756

1,722

28,464

28,665

2,202

2,176

30,666

30,841

24

16

–

22

Total revenue

(b) Expenses included in the Statement of comprehensive income
Depreciation and amortisation of non-current assets

Motor vehicles
Depreciation and amortisation of property, plant and equipment
Computer software

Employee benefits expense
Wages and salaries
Superannuation
Other expenses
Bad debts written off
Finance costs
Bank loans and overdraft
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5. Income tax
2010
$’000

2009
$’000

1,966

1,391

(a) Income tax expense
The major components of income tax are:
Current income tax
Adjustments in respect of current income tax of previous years
Benefit arising from previously unrecognised tax losses of prior periods used to
reduce current income tax expense
Aggregate income tax expense

(1,196)

615

(770)

(2,006)

–

–

Surplus from ordinary activities

6,720

4,821

Prima facie tax expense at the rate of 30% (2009: 30%)

2,016

1,446

(b) Numerical reconciliation between tax expense recognised in the
Statement of comprehensive income and prima facie income tax

Adjustments in respect of current income tax of previous years
Entertainment
Depreciation of plant and equipment, and intangibles
Mutual activities
Benefit arising from previously unrecognised tax losses of prior periods used
to reduce current income tax expense
Aggregate income tax expense

(1,196)

615

70

55

1,009

996

(1,129)

(1,106)

(770)

(2,006)

–

–

At balance date, accumulated revenue tax losses of $13,657,000 (2009: $13,920,000) existed, giving rise to a potential
future tax benefit. The potential deferred tax asset attributable to the revenue tax profit is not recognised, as realisation
is not probable. The deferred tax asset for revenue tax losses, which will offset future non-mutual income, will only be
utilised if:
>> Future assessable income is derived of a nature and of an amount sufficient to enable the benefit to be realised
>> The conditions for deductibility imposed by tax legislation continue to be complied with
>> No changes in tax legislation adversely affect the Institute in realising the benefit.
Deferred tax assets not recognised in respect of deductible temporary differences amount to $1,123,000 (2009: $908,000).
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 30 June 2010

6. Cash and cash equivalents

Cash at bank and on hand
Short-term deposits

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

5,212

6,646

21,542

8,500

26,754

15,146

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and cash at bank which is at call and which earned interest at floating
rates and short-term deposits which earned interest at fixed rates.
The Institute has entered into an approved overdraft facility with a financial institution with a limit of $14,000,000 and
secured by a registered mortgage over the property situated at 33 Erskine Street, Sydney NSW. The effective interest
rate is based upon the 30-day bank bill swap rate plus a margin.
At 30 June 2010, the Institute had available $14,000,000 (2009: $19,000,000) of undrawn committed borrowing facilities.

Reconciliation to Statement of Cash Flows
For the purposes of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise the following
at the end of the financial year:
Cash and cash equivalents (per Statement of financial position)

26,754

15,146

Cash and cash equivalents (per Statement of cash flows)

26,754

15,146

6,720

4,821

3,279

3,227

35

3

246

94

–

(86)

Reconciliation of net surplus after tax to net cash flows from operations
Net surplus from ordinary activities
Adjustment:
Depreciation and amortisation of property, plant and equipment
Net (gain)/loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment and intangibles
Amortisation and impairment of intangible assets
Net bad debt expense
Interest received

(655)

Interest paid

(224)

–

22

2,905

3,036

Changes in working capital:
Decrease/(increase) in receivables

(274)

1,089

Increase/(decrease) in payables

177

(4,334)

Increase in provisions

308

251

2,252

6,781

2,463

3,787

12,088

11,644

Increase in receipts in advance

Net cash flows from operating activities
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7. Trade and other receivables
2010
$’000

2009
$’000

2,771

2,383

Current
Trade receivables (a)
Allowance for impairment loss

(173)

(173)

2,598

2,210

Other receivables

1,663

1,163

Prepayments

1,102

1,366

5,363

4,739

350

350

Non-trade receivables (b)

Total trade and other receivables

Non-current
Non-trade receivables (c)
Loan receivable
Provision for impairment

(350)

Net loan receivable

–

–
350

(a) Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on 30-day terms. A provision for impairment loss has
been made for estimated irrecoverable trade receivables determined by assessment made by management when
there is objective evidence that an individual trade receivable is impaired. An impairment charge of $24,000
(2009: impairment writeback of $70,000) has been recognised by the Institute in the current year. These amounts
have been included in the other expenses line item in the Statement of comprehensive income.
Included in the Institute’s trade receivables are debtors with a carrying amount of $994,000 (2009: $738,000) which
are past due at the reporting date but not considered impaired as there has not been a significant change in credit
quality and the Institute believes that the amounts are still considered recoverable. The Institute does not hold any
collateral over these balances.
All other balances within trade and other receivables do not contain impaired assets and are not past due. Based
on the credit quality of these other receivables, it is expected that those amounts will be received when due.
The Institute has no receivables with renegotiated credit terms that would have been past due under the original
terms and conditions.
(b) Current non-trade receivables are generally non-interest bearing and are normally payable at call. There are no
non-trade receivables that are past due at the reporting date.
(c) The Institute, in conjunction with CPA Australia and the National Institute of Accountants, has lent funds to the
Association of Accounting Technicians (AAT) as agreed under a Memorandum of Understanding. The non-current loan
to AAT is $350,000 before interest that is charged monthly based on the 90-day bank bill rate plus 0.5%. Management
has assessed the AAT loan, and an impairment provision has been created for the entire amount. Negotiations will be
conducted with the AAT in conjunction with CPA Australia and the National Institute of Accountants to extend
the repayment of the original loan.
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7. Trade and other receivables (continued)
2010
$’000

2009
$’000

1,604

1,472

31– 60 days

651

473

61– 90 days

279

249

64

16

994

738

31– 60 days

75

70

61– 90 days

30

4

> 90 days

68

99

173

173

2,771

2,383

173

259

24

(70)

Amounts written off

(24)

(16)

At 30 June

173

173

At 30 June, the ageing analysis of trade debtors is as follows:
Neither past due nor impaired
Past due but not impaired:

> 90 days
Past due and impaired:

Total
Movements in the provision for impairment loss were as follows:
At 1 July
Net (writeback)/charge for the year
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8. Property, plant and equipment

Freehold property – at fair value
Furniture and equipment – at cost
Less: Accumulated depreciation

Computer equipment – at cost
Less: Accumulated depreciation

Fixtures and fittings on freehold premises – at cost
Less: Accumulated depreciation

Fixtures and fittings on leasehold premises – at cost
Less: Accumulated amortisation

Motor vehicles – at cost
Less: Accumulated depreciation

Total property, plant and equipment

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

49,431

47,055

4,556

4,512

(2,090)

(2,245)

2,466

2,267

3,970

4,360

(3,059)

(3,003)

911

1,357

7,165

7,980

(2,100)

(1,532)

5,065

6,448

3,141

3,177

(1,676)

(1,427)

1,465

1,750

62

86

(40)

(86)

22

–

59,360

58,877

Motor vehicles
Motor vehicles are either provided to certain senior staff in accordance with approved employment arrangements
or purchased for marketing purposes.

Revaluation of freehold property
The fair value of freehold property is a directors’ valuation and has taken into account an independent valuation
undertaken as at 30 June 2010 based upon depreciated replacement cost. The valuation was carried out by
McGees Property (NSW) Pty Limited.
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8. Property, plant and equipment (continued)
Reconciliations
Reconciliations of the carrying amounts for each class of property, plant and equipment are set out below:
2010
$’000

2009
$’000

47,055

47,346

–

–

(1)

–

Freehold property
Carrying amount at beginning of the financial year
Additions
Reclassification
Revaluation

3,192

Depreciation expense

(815)

492
(783)

49,431

47,055

2,267

1,153

Additions

141

276

Reclassification

666

1,601

Disposals

(15)

(13)

(593)

(750)

Furniture and equipment
Carrying amount at beginning of the financial year

Depreciation expense

2,466

2,267

1,357

1,704

Additions

450

434

Disposals

(31)

(4)

(865)

(777)

Computer equipment
Carrying amount at beginning of the financial year

Depreciation expense

911

1,357

6,448

8,508

–

145

Fixtures and fittings on freehold premises
Carrying amount at beginning of the financial year
Additions
Reclassification

(666)

(1,601)

Depreciation expense

(717)

(604)

5,065
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Reconciliations (continued)

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

1,750

1,963

Additions

1

94

Reclassification

1

–

Disposals

–

–

Fixtures and fittings on leasehold premises
Carrying amount at beginning of the financial year

Amortisation

(287)

(307)

1,465

1,750

–

8

Additions

24

–

Disposals

–

(2)

(2)

(6)

Motor vehicles
Carrying amount at beginning of the financial year

Depreciation expense

22

–

58,877

60,682

616

949

3,192

492

Total
Carrying amount at beginning of the financial year
Additions
Revaluation
Disposals

(46)

(19)

Depreciation expense

(2,992)

(2,920)

Amortisation expense

(287)

(307)

59,360
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9. Intangibles

Computer software
Less: Accumulated amortisation

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

2,483

2,113

(1,898)

(1,812)

585

301

Carrying value at beginning of the financial year

301

153

Additions

530

242

Disposals

–

–

Reconciliation

Impairment expense

(160)

–

(86)

(94)

585

301

26,147

25,559

Development course fees

7,729

7,356

Other

1,672

381

35,548

33,296

Trade payables

4,442

4,023

Other payables

392

696

Lease liabilities

62

168

4,896

4,887

597

429

597

429

Amortisation

10. Receipts in advance
Members’ fees

11. Trade and other payables
Current

Non-current
Lease liabilities

Liabilities are recognised for amounts to be paid in the future for goods or services received, whether or not billed
to the Institute. Payables are normally settled on 30-day terms and no interest is incurred on these payables.
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12. Provisions
2010
$’000

2009
$’000

1,970

1,806

1,970

1,806

Employee entitlements

375

251

Make good provision

283

263

658

514

263

245

Arising during the year

–

–

Utilised during the year

–

–

20

18

283

263

Current
Employee entitlements

Non-current

Reconciliation make good provision
Balance at beginning of the financial year

Discount rate adjustment

In accordance with the lease agreements with various third parties, the Institute must restore leased premises
in various locations to their original condition before the cessation of their respective lease terms.
Because of the long-term nature of the liability, the greatest uncertainty in estimating the make good provision
is the costs that will ultimately be incurred. The provision has been calculated using a discount rate of 7.5%.

13. Reserves and retained earnings
Nature and purpose of reserves
The property revaluation reserve is used to record increments and decrements in the value of the property.
The reserve is not distributable to members under the terms of the Supplemental Royal Charter of the Institute.

Movements in reserves:
Property revaluation reserve
Balance at beginning of the financial year

3,196

2,704

Increment on revaluation of property (refer Note 8)

3,192

492

Balance at end of the financial year

6,388

3,196

35,285

30,464

6,720

4,821

42,005

35,285

Movements in retained earnings:
Retained earnings
Balance at beginning of the financial year
Surplus from ordinary activities
Balance at end of the financial year
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14. Commitments
2010
$’000

2009
$’000

Within one year

1,718

1,699

After one year but not later than five years

6,343

6,448

More than five years

2,418

4,128

10,479

12,275

Operating leases – state branch office space

The leases are all non-cancellable operating leases. Three leases do not have a renewal option and are subject
to market review at set intervals.

Expenditure commitments
Within one year

1,150

–

After one year but not later than five years

1,101

–

–

–

2,251

–

More than five years

Expenditure commitments relate to the Institute IT renewal program and the Live One online training program.

Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB) and Auditing and Assurance Standards Board (AuASB)
The Institute contributes towards the funding of the operations of two federal bodies, namely AASB and AuASB.
Contributions in the 2011 financial year are expected to be $198,000 to AASB and $22,000 to AuASB.

Australian Professional Ethics and Standards Board (APESB)
The Institute, in conjunction with CPA Australia and the National Institute of Accountants, contributes funds to APESB
as agreed under the Memorandum of Agreement. The Institute expects to contribute an amount of $425,670 during the
2011 financial year.

15. Contingent liabilities

Indemnities for bank guarantees to the lessors of premises occupied
under operating leases.
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16. Auditors’ remuneration

Audit services

2010
$

2009
$

155,530

170,550

2,765

33,000

18,092

78,313

20,857

111,313

Other services:
Training & Development presentations
Tax and accounting advisory

17. Unlisted shares in other entities
The Institute has an interest in the following corporation:
Name of corporation

ICAA Nominees Pty Limited

Country of incorporation

Australia

Percentage of ownership
2010

2009

100%

100%

The corporation is dormant and has not been consolidated as it is considered to be immaterial.

18. Employee entitlements and superannuation arrangements
2010
$’000

2009
$’000

141

452

1,970

1,806

375

251

2,486

2,509

The aggregate employment liability is comprised of:
Accrued wages, salaries and on-costs
Provisions (current)
Provisions (non-current)
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19. Financial instruments
Fair values
The estimated net fair values of financial assets and liabilities held at balance date are represented by their carrying amounts.
The net fair value of a financial asset or liability is the amount at which the asset could be exchanged or the liability settled
in a current transaction between willing parties after allowing for transaction costs.
Financial assets and liabilities by categories:

Total

Financial liability
measured at
amortised cost
$’000
$’000

Loans and
receivables

Notes

$’000

Cash and cash equivalents

6

26,754

26,754

–

Trade receivables

7

2,598

2,598

–

Other receivables

7

2,765

2,765

–

Total current financial assets

32,117

32,117

–

Total financial assets

32,117

32,117

–

2010
Current financial assets

Current financial liabilities
Trade and other payables

11

(4,896)

–

(4,896)

11

(597)

–

(597)

Total financial liabilities

(5,493)

–

(5,493)

Net financial assets/(liabilities)

26,624

32,117

(5,493)

Non-current financial liabilities
Trade and other payables

2009
Current financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents

6

15,146

15,146

–

Trade receivables

7

2,210

2,210

–

Other receivables

7

2,529

2,529

–

19,885

19,885

–

350

350

–

20,235

20,235

–

11

(4,887)

–

(4,887)

11

(429)

–

(429)

Total financial liabilities

(5,316)

–

(5,316)

Net financial assets/(liabilities)

14,919

20,235

(5,316)

Total current financial assets

Non-current financial assets
Receivables

7

Total financial assets

Current financial liabilities
Trade and other payables

Non-current financial liabilities
Trade and other payables
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20. Related party transactions
The Institute made payments of a nature detailed below to certain parties, including partners or employees
of director-related entities. The payments were made to all parties on the same terms and conditions:
>> Gifts and fees to guest speakers at Training & Development events
>> Author, group leader, reviewer, examination setting and examination marking fees in respect of the
Chartered Accountants Program modules
>> Reviewer fees in respect of the Quality Review of certain practices.
The Institute also received the following fees from certain parties, including director-related entities.
The fees were received from all parties under the same terms and conditions:
>> Registration fees for attendance at Training & Development events
>> Fees in respect of enrolment of students in the Chartered Accountants Program modules
>> Fees in respect of the Quality Review of certain practices
>> Fees in respect of attendances at networking functions.
The following table provides the total amount of transactions that were entered into with director-related
entities for the relevant financial year.
All the following transactions were carried out on normal terms and conditions during the year.
2010
$’000

2009
$’000

24

–

6

–

165

–

91

91

3

11

Consultancy fees

20

–

Contribution to research papers

14

7

Venue hire

21

3

Preparation and presentation of educational courses

39

105

Director

Director-related entity

Transaction detail and terms

T Gullifer

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu

Preparation and presentation of educational courses
Royalty
Consultancy fees

R Deutsch
and N Wilson

PricewaterhouseCoopers

Contribution to PwC Transparency Awards
Presentation of educational courses

P Green
A Waters

University of Queensland
KPMG

As of 30 June 2010, there is an amount payable of $1,372 to the University of Queensland.
The amount is within the trade and other payables on the statement of financial position.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 30 June 2010

21. Director and executive disclosures
(a) Details of key management personnel
(i) Directors
Retired 31 December 2009

R Deutsch
M Spinks
R Grimes
C Farrow
M Watson
F Bennett
P Green
M Ashton
A Waters
T Gullifer

Appointed 1 January 2010

N Wilson

Appointed 1 January 2010

(ii) Executives
G B Meyer

Chief Executive Officer

E McFadzean

Deputy Chief Executive Officer

W J Palmer

Director of Asia

A M McCotter

General Manager Learning & Business Solutions

S E Frenkel

General Manager Chartered Accountants Program & Admissions

S B M Grant

General Manager Qld

M T Jones

General Manager SA/NT

D Pittard

General Manager Vic/Tas

G Arcus

General Manager WA

P Reddy

General Manager Corporate Services

A Evans

General Manager NSW

R Le Grande

General Manager ACT

B Bell

General Manager Strategy & Business Excellence

M A Maky

General Manager Human Resources

L White

General Manager Leadership & Quality

T Fisher

General Manager Sales & Marketing

Appointed 26 October 2009

M Nazzari

General Manager Vic/Tas

Resigned 8 January 2010
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(b) Compensation of key management personnel
(i) Compensation policy
Remuneration of the directors and senior management is determined by the Executive Review Committee, which
also reviews remuneration levels for all staff. The Committee is appointed by the Board and consists of three
members of the Board (currently the President, Deputy President, and the Chairman of the Governance Committee).
To ensure equity in our remuneration decisions the Institute uses salary bands to establish remuneration ranges for
jobs of similar value. The Institute benchmarks jobs for job sizing using a well-established methodology that provides
remuneration ranges for salary bands based on job size. In structuring remuneration ranges the Institute aims to
remain competitive and positioned appropriately for the scope and size of its operations.
The benchmark that the Institute bases directors’ remuneration on is:
>> President – 25% to 40% of the total salary package of the Auditor-General of the Commonwealth of Australia
>> Deputy President – up to 50% of the remuneration of the President
>> Directors – up to 50% of the remuneration of the Deputy President.

(ii) Compensation of directors and executives for the year

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

4,071

3,866

Compensation by category
Short term
Other long-term benefits

21

64

102

207

4,194

4,137

2010
Number

2009
Number

$0 – $29,999

4

5

$30,000 – $59,999

5

5

$60,000 – $89,999

1

1

$90,000 – $99,999

1

–

$30,000 – $59,999

1

1

$60,000 – $89,999

1

1

$90,000 – $119,999

–

4

$120,000 – $149,999

4

2

$150,000 – $179,999

2

6

$180,000 – $209,999

4

1

$210,000 – $239,999

1

3

$240,000 – $269,999

1

–

$270,000 – $299,999

–

1

$300,000 – $329,999

1

1

$330,000 – $359,999

2

–

$510,000 – $539,999

–

1

$540,000 – $569,999

1

–

Termination benefits

The number of directors whose remuneration falls within the following bands is:

The number of executives whose remuneration falls within the following bands is:
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 30 June 2010

21. Director and executive disclosures (continued)
(b) Compensation of key management personnel (continued)
(iii) Loans to key management personnel
There are no loans between key management personnel and the Institute.

(iv) Other transactions of key management personnel and their personally related entities
There are no other transactions with key management personnel or their personally related entities.

22. Indemnification of directors and officers
The by-laws of the Institute indemnify the directors and officers, and provide that each director and officer:
>> Shall be indemnified against any losses or expenses that such a director or officer incurs or becomes liable to pay
by reason of any act or deed done by the director or officer in the discharge of that director’s or officer’s duties
except to the extent that such act or deed arises from the director’s or officer’s own wilful default
>> Shall not be liable for the acts of any person or for joining in any receipt or document or for any act of conformity or
for any loss or expense happening to the Institute unless it arises from the director’s or officer’s own wilful default.

23. Members and members’ liability
Total membership at 30 June 2010 is 54,044 (2009: 51,473).
In terms of the Institute’s Charter and by-laws:
>> Members are not entitled to receive a dividend from the Institute
>> Members who cease to be members remain liable to the Institute for all monies that at the time of ceasing to be
a member were due by that member to the Institute.

24. Events after balance date
There has not arisen in the interval between the end of the financial year and the date of this report any item, transaction
or event of a material and unusual nature likely, in the opinion of the directors of the Institute, to affect significantly the
operations of the Institute or the state of affairs of the Institute in future financial years.
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Directors’ declaration

The directors of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in Australia declare that the financial statements and notes set out on
pages 46 to 74 which have been prepared as required under the by-laws of the Institute:
(a) Comply with Australian Accounting Standards and other mandatory professional reporting requirements
(b) Present fairly the financial position of the Institute as at 30 June 2010 and the results of its operations and its cash flows
for the year ended on that date.
In the opinion of the directors, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Institute will be able to pay its debts as and
when they become due and payable.

M Spinks FCA
President

R Grimes FCA
Deputy President

Sydney, 23 August 2010
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of
the Institute of Chartered Accountants in Australia
I have audited the accompanying financial report of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in Australia (the Institute), which
comprises the statement of financial position as at 30 June 2010, and the statement of comprehensive income, statement of
changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year ended on that date, a summary of significant accounting policies,
other explanatory notes and the directors’ declaration.

Directors’ responsibility for the Financial Report
The directors of the Institute are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial report in accordance with
Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting Interpretations) and in accordance with the by-laws of the
Institute. This responsibility includes establishing and maintaining internal controls relevant to the preparation and fair presentation
of the financial report that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate
accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances. In Note 2, the directors also
state that the financial report, comprising the financial statements and notes, complies with Australian Accounting Standards.

Auditor’s responsibility
My responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on my audit. I conducted my audit in accordance
with Australian Auditing Standards. These Auditing Standards require that I comply with relevant ethical requirements relating
to audit engagements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance that the financial report is free from
material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial report.
The procedures selected depend on my judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the
financial report, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, I consider internal controls relevant to the
entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial report in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal controls. An audit
also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made
by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial report.
I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my audit opinion.

Independence
In conducting my audit I have met the independence requirements of the Australian professional accounting bodies. In addition
to my audit of the financial report, I was engaged to undertake the services disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.
The provision of these services has not impaired my independence.

Auditor’s opinion
In my opinion the financial report of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in Australia presents fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in Australia as of 30 June 2010 and of its
performance for the year then ended on that date; and complies with Australian Accounting Standards (including the
Australian Accounting Interpretations).

Sean Van Gorp FCA
Auditor
Sydney, 23 August 2010
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Contact details
Customer Service Centre 1300 137 322
National Office / New South Wales
33 Erskine Street
Sydney NSW 2000
GPO Box 9985, Sydney NSW 2001
Phone 02 9290 1344
Fax
02 9262 1512
Australian Capital Territory
Level 10, 60 Marcus Clarke Street
Canberra ACT 2601
GPO Box 9985, Canberra ACT 2601
Phone 02 6122 6100
Fax
02 6122 6122
Queensland
Level 32, Central Plaza One
345 Queen Street, Brisbane Qld 4000
GPO Box 9985, Brisbane Qld 4001
Phone 07 3233 6500
Fax
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Adelaide SA 5000
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03 9670 3143
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Fax
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